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DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA
OFFICE OF THE STATE SUPERINTENDENT OF EDUCATION

STUDENT HEARING OFFICE
STUDENT, )
By and through PARENT,’ )
)
Petitioner, ) Case No.
v ; Bruce Ryan, Hearing Officer
DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA ) . ‘
PUBLIC SCHOOLS, ) Issued: June 22,2011
)
Respondent. )

HEARING OFFICER DETERMINATION

I.  INTRODUCTION AND PROCEDURAL BACKGROUND

SIART B i

This is a due process complaint proceeding pursuant to the Individuals with Disabilities
Education Act (“IDEA”), as amended, 20 U.S.C. §§1400 ef seq., against Respondent District of
Columbia Public Schools (“DCPS”). The Complaint was filed April 1, 2011, on behalf of an 11-
year old student (the “Student”) who has been determined to be eligible for special education and
related services as a child with a disability under the IDEA. The Student currently attends a
DCPS elementary school (the “School”) and resides in the District of Columbia with Petitioner,
who is the Student’s mother.

Petitioner claims that that DCPS has denied the Student a free appropriate public
education (“FAPE”) by failing to (a) implement the Student’s 06/23/2010 individualized
education program (“IEP”); (b) develop an appropriate IEP on 02/14/2011; (c) evaluate in all
areas of suspected disability; (d) provide an appropriate placement; and (e) include the parent in
the decision making process.

DCPS filed its Response on April 12, 2011, which responds that the Student has not been
denied a FAPE. DCPS asserts that: (a) DCPS appropriately implemented the 06/23/2010 IEP

! Personally identifiable information is attached as an Appendix to this HOD and must be removed prior to public
distribution.






“within the SAM inclusion model at the School”; (b) the “current draft IEP” (dated 02/14/2011,
but not yet signed by the parent) provides an appropriate program for the Student; (c) the Student
does not require further evaluations; (d) DCPS has provided an appropriate placement; and (e)
parent was present during the deliberation and development of the 02/14/2011 IEP.

A resolution session was also held on April 18 2011, which did not resolve the
Complaint, and the statutory 30-day resolution period ended as of May 1, 2011. A Prehearing
Conference (“PHC”) was then held on May 10, 2011; the parties filed five-day disclosures on
May 24, 2011; and the Due Process Hearing was scheduled for May 31, 2011. Petitioner elected
for the hearing to be closed.

On May 31, 2011, the parties convened for the Due Process Hearing and heard the
testimony of seven (7) witnesses. However, due to an unanticipated electrical utility outage
affecting an area of downtown D.C. including the Student Hearing Office (“SHO”), the hearing
was forced to conclude two hours earlier than scheduled. All parties agreed to reconvene the
following day, June 1 to complete the hearing, but the SHO offices were again closed due to the
same electrical power outage.

The parties then determined that they would next be available to finish the hearing on
June 14, 2011, and agreed to extend the 45-day HOD timeline from June 15 to June 22, 2011 to
accommodate the rescheduled hearing. The hearing was subsequently rescheduled to June 15,
2011, due to the illness of the remaining DCPS witness. Based on these circumstances, the
Hearing Officer found good cause for and granted the requested extension of the HOD timeline
in order to complete the hearing and render a decision.

At the Due Process Hearing, the following Documentary Exhibits were admitted into
evidence:

Petitioner’s Exhibits: P-1 through P-16 (without objection).

Respondent’s Exhibits: R-1; R-2; R-4 through R-7. (Exhibit R-3
was withdrawn at hearing; and Petitioner’s objection to R-2 was
overruled.)

In addition, the following Witnesses testified on behalf of each party:

Petitioner’s Witnesses: (1) Parent-Petitioner; (2) the Student’s

Educational Advocate (“EA”); (3) Occupational Therapist (“OT");






(4) Clinical Psychologist; and (5) Director of Education, Private

School.

Respondent’s Witness: (1) DCPS School Psychologist; (2)
Special Education Coordinator (“SEC”); and (3) Teacher.

IL.

JURISDICTION

The due process hearing was held pursuant to the IDEA, 20 U.S.C. §1415 (f); its
implementing regulations, 34 C.F.R. §300.511; and the District of Columbia Code and Code of
D.C. Municipal Regulations, see DCMR §§ 5-E3029, E3030. This decision constitutes the
Hearing Officer’s Determination (“HOD”) pursuant to 20 U.S.C. §1415 (f), 34 C.F.R. §300.513,
and Section 1003 of the SOP. The statutory HOD deadline is June 22, 2011.

III. ISSUES AND REQUESTED RELIEF

A discussion at the PHC of the issues and requested relief raised by Petitioner resulted in

the following issues being presented for determination at hearing:

)

@)

©))

)

)

Failure to Implement June 2010 IEP. — Did DCPS deny the Student a
FAPE by failing to implement the Student’s 06/23/2010 IEP, in that the
Student allegedly did not receive all of his required 15 hours per week of
specialized instruction in an Out of General Education setting and all of
his required related services?

Failure to Evaluate. — Did DCPS deny the Student a FAPE by failing to
evaluate in all areas of suspected disability, specifically by conducting a
neuropsychological evaluation?

Inappropriate IEP (Feb. 2011). — Did DCPS deny the Student a FAPE
by failing to provide an appropriate IEP on 02/14/2011, in that the IEP
prescribes (a) insufficient hours of specialized instruction, (b) an
inappropriate setting for specialized instruction, (c) inappropriate goals
and objectives, (d) no baselines, and (e) no OT services? See Complaint, p.
2, paragraph 13.

Inappropriate Placement (Feb. 2011). — Did DCPS deny the Student a
FAPE by failing to provide an appropriate educational placement on
02/14/2011, in that the Student needs small class sizes, in a full-time Out
of General Education program for students with learning disabilities?

Parent Participation. — Did DCPS deny the Student a FAPE by failing to
include the parent in the decision making process regarding IEP and
placement in February 20117






Petitioner requests that the Hearing Officer order DCPS to: (a) immediately place and
fund the Student at Private School; (b) fund an independent neuropsychological evaluation of the
Student; (c) convene an MDT/IEP team meeting to review and revise the IEP; and (d) fund or

provide appropriate compensatory education.

IV. FINDINGS OF FACT

1. The Student isan  -year old student who has been determined to be eligible for special
education and related services under the IDEA as a child with a disability. Her primary
disability is Specific Learning Disability (“SLD”). P-5; R-5, Parent Test.

2. During the 2009-10 school year, the Student attended a D.C. public charter school, for
which DCPS serves as LEA.

3. On or about June 23, 2010, DCPS convened a meeting of the Student’s MDT/IEP Team
to develop an IEP. The 06/23/2010 IEP provided for (a) 15 hours of specialized
instruction (Reading, Math, and Written Expression) in an Out of General Education
setting; (b) 60 minutes per week of behavioral support services (counseling) in an Out of
General Education setting; (c) 60 minutes per week of speech/language services in an
Out of General Education setting; and (d) 60 minutes per month of additional
behavioral support services (organization skills) in an Out of General Education setting.
P-3,p9.

4. The 06/23/2010 IEP services represented an increase in hours from the Student’s
previous IEPs. His 12/10/2009 IEP provided for 9 hours per week of specialized
instruction outside general education, and the 03/04/2010 IEP provided for 12 hours per
week of specialized instruction outside general education. See P-1; P-2.

5. Petitioner was informed that the charter school was not able to meet the Student’s
increased needs, and that the School could meet her needs and implement an [EP with
greater hours of specialized instruction. Parent Test.; EA Test. Thus, DCPS issued a
Prior Written Notice dated 06/24/2010 specifying the School as the “proposed
educational placement for [the Student] for the 2010-2011 academic school year.” P-11.
The Student then began attending the School at the start of the 2010-11 school year.

Parent Test.





6. On or about November 15, 2010, Petitioner obtained an independent comprehensive
psychological evaluation, which found (infer alia) that the Student had “deficits with
memory, picture naming, and also spatial integration [which] may point to
neuropsychological impairment.” P-9, p. 12. The evaluator recommended that the
Student receive a neuropsychological evaluation to assess these deficits. Id., pp. 12-13.

7. On or about February 2, 2011, DCPS convened a meeting of the Student’s MDT/IEP
Team to review independent comprehensive psychological and OT evaluations, to
review and revise the IEP, and to discuss compensatory education if necessary. R-1. At
this meeting, Petitioner requested that the Student receive a neuropsychological
evaluation. Id.; EA Test. To date, DCPS has not conducted such an evaluation.

8. Also at the February 2, 2011 MDT meeting, DCPS acknowledged that the Student had
not been receiving all of her 15 hours per week of specialized instruction in an Out of
General Education setting, as required under the 06/23/2010 IEP. See R-1, p. 2 (noting
that the Student “is not getting pulled out for 15 hours as the IEP instructs”).

9. On or about February 14, 2011, DCPS reconvened the MDT/IEP Team to complete its
review of the Student’s IEP. The 02/14/2011 IEP provides for (a) 10 hours of
specialized instruction in a General Education (inclusion) setting; (b) 60 minutes per
week of behavioral support services (counseling) in an Out of General Education setting;
and (c) 60 minutes per week of speech/language services in an Out of General
Education setting. See R-5; P-5; P-6. Petitioner disagreed with the reduction in hours of
specialized instruction and the change in setting. Parent Test.; EA Test.

10. Also at the February 14, 2011, MDT meeting, DCPS agreed that the Student required
direct, school-based OT services, as had been recommended by the independent OT
evaluation dated December 3, 2010. P-10; Parent Test. But the 02/14/2011 IEP did not
include any OT services. P-5; R-5; EA Test. However, subsequent to the February 2011
team meetings, Petitioner was also informed that the Student was supposed to be
receiving OT services. Parent Test.

11. On or about April 18, 2011, DCPS convened a resolution meeting in this case. R-2.
DCPS felt that the 02/14/2011 IEP is appropriate as written and that the School is an

appropriate site location. Petitioner disagreed and proceeded to hearing. Petitioner asked





DCPS to issue a PNOP for the Student to attend Private School and to issue an IEE for a

neurological assessment. Id.
V. DISCUSSION AND CONCLUSIONS OF LAW
A. Burden of Proof

The burden of proof in a special education due process hearing is on the party seeking
relief. DCMR 5-3030.3; see Schaffer v. Weast, 546 U.S. 49 (2005). This burden applies to any
challenged action and/or inaction, including failures to evaluate and failures to develop an
appropriate IEP. Based solely upon the evidence presented at the due process hearing, an
impartial hearing officer must determine whether the party seeking relief presented sufficient
evidence to prevail. See DCMR 5-E3030.3. The recognized standard is preponderance of the
evidence. See, e.g., N.G. v. District of Columbia, 556 F. Supp. 2d 11 (D.D.C. 2008); Holdzclaw
v. District of Columbia, 524 F. Supp. 2d 43, 48 (D.D.C. 2007); 20 U.S.C. §1415(i)(2)(C)(iii).

B. Issues/Alleged Denials of FAPE

- As noted above, Petitioner claims that DCPS denied the Student a FAPE by: (1) failing to
implement the Student’s 06/23/2010 IEP; (2) failing to evaluate in all areas of suspected
disability, specifically by conducting a neuropsychological evaluation; (3) failing to develop an
appropriate IEP and provide an appropriate placement on 02/14/2011; and (4) failing to include
the parent in the decision making process.

The IDEA requires that all students be provided with a Free Appropriate Public
Education (“FAPE”). FAPE means:

[S]pecial education and related services that are provided at public expense, under

public supervision and direction, and without charge; meet the standards of the

SEA...include an appropriate preschool, elementary school, or secondary school

education in the State involved; and are provided in conformity with the

individualized education program (IEP)...” 20 U.S.C. § 1401(9); see 34 C.F.R. §
300.17; DCMR 5-E3001.1.

For the reasons discussed below, the Hearing Officer concludes that Petitioner has -
met her burden of proof on Issues 1, 2, and 5 above, and has met her burden of proof in

part on Issues 3 and 4 above.

1. Failure to Implement June 2010 IEP






As the statute and regulations indicate, the failure to provide services in conformity with
a student’s IEP can constitute a denial of FAPE. 34 C.F.R. § 300,17(d). In order to constitute a
denial of FAPE, however, courts have held that the aspects of an IEP not followed must be
“substantial or significant,” and “more than a de minimus failure”; in other words, the deviation
from the IEP’s stated requirements must be “material.” Catalan v. District of Columbia, 478 F.
Supp. 2d 73 (D.D.C. 2007), quoting Houston Indep. Sch. Dist. v. Bobby R., 200 F.3d 341,349
(5th Cir. 2000). See also Wilson v. District of Columbia, 111 LRP 19583 (D.D.C. March 18,
2011) (“Although the D.C. Circuit has not yet squarely addressed the question of what standard
governs failure-to-implement claims under the IDEA, the consensus approach to this question
among the federal courts that have addressed it has been to adopt the standard articulated by the
Fifth Circuit in Houston Independent School District v. Bobby R.”); S.S. ex rel. Shank v. Howard
Road Academy, 585 F. Supp. 2d 56, 68 (D.D.C. 2008).

As was recently confirmed by the District Court in Wilson, “a party challenging the
implementation of an IEP must show more than a de minimus failure to implement all elements
of that IEP, and, instead, must demonstrate that the school board or other authorities failed to
implement substantial or significant provisions of the IEP. This approach affords local agencies
some flexibility in implementing IEPs, but it still holds those agencies accountable for material
failures and for providing the disabled child a meaningful educational benefit.“ 111 LRP 19583,
slip op. at 5 (quoting Bobby R). A “material failure occurs when there is more than a minor
discrepancy between the services a school provides to a disabled child and the services required
by the child’s IEP.” Id,, quoting Howard Road Academy, 585 F. Supp. 2d at 68. In Wilson, for
example, DCPS failed to transport a student to three of the four weeks of an ESY program, and
thus “almost entirely failed to provide a service that {student’s] IEP team determined was
necessary for his educational development.” Hence, the deviation was found to be material, and

not a “minor discrepancy.” Id., slip op. at 6-7.

In this case, Petitioner claims that DCPS failed to implement the Student’s 06/23/2010
IEP, in that the Student allegedly did not receive (a) all of his required 15 hours per week of
specialized instruction in an Out of General Education setting, and (b) all of his required related
services. The evidence adequately supports these claims. The Special Education Teacher

estimated that she provided no more than 7.5 hours per week of pull-out instruction from the

beginning of the 2010-11 school year until approximately mid-November, and then began to






provide services on an inclusion or small-group basis with general education students. See Spec.
Ed. Teacher Test.

In closing argument, DCPS conceded that the School did not implement the full 15 hours
of pull-out specialized instruction, but argued that Petitioner had not proved that the Student
suffered any specific educational harm from this failure. However, Petitioner was not required to
make such showing. The failure to implement an IEP is not a mere procedural violation. When
an LEA materially deviates from IEP requirements (as DCPS did here), educational harm to the
student is presumed, since the LEA has failed to provide a service that the IEP team determined

was necessary to meet the student’s unique educational needs. Wilson, supra.

Accordingly, the Hearing Officer concludes that Petitioner has met her burden of proof

on Issue 1.

2, Failure to Evaluate (Neuropsychological)

As part of both an initial evaluation and any re-evaluation, DCPS must (inter alia) ensure
that the child “is assessed in all areas related to the suspected disability,” and that the evaluation
is “sufficiently comprehensive to identify all of the child’s special education and related services
needs, whether or not commonly linked to the disability category in which the child has been
classified.” 34 C.F.R. §300.304 (c) (4), (6); see also Harris v. DC, 561 F. Supp. 2d 63, 67-68
(D.D.C. 2008). Parents also have a right to request particular assessments to determine whether
their child has a disability and the child’s educational needs. See, e.g., 34 C.F.R. 300.305 (d); see
also Herbin v. District of Columbia, 362 F. Supp. 254, 43 IDELR 110 (D.D.C. 2005). The failure
to act on a request for independent evaluation may constitute a denial of FAPE. Harris v. DC,
supra, 561 F. Supp. 2d at 68-69.

In this case, Petitioner claims that DCPS denied the Student a FAPE by failing to
evaluate in all areas of suspected disability, specifically by failing to conduct a
neuropsychological evaluation that had been recommended by an independent clinical
psychologist. The psychologist testified regarding the reasons for recommending this evaluation,
including the Student’s weaknesses in working memory and executive functioning, and her low
scores related to these areas on the Woodcock-Johnson III. See Clinical Psychologist Test.; P-9,
p- 16. While the DCPS’ School Psychologist indicated at the February 2011 MDT meeting that





no further assessments were warranted, in cross examination at hearing she agreed that the
Student’s Visual-Auditory Learning score was “definitely a red flag.” School Psychologist Test.
(cross examination). The Student’s score on this particular subtest translated to a Grade
Equivalency of below Kindergarten. P-9, p. 16.° She ultimately testified that she would want to

at least speak with the OT evaluator to see where the problem lies.

The Hearing Officer concludes that Petitioner has shown sufficient evidence to justify her
request for a neuropsychological assessment. A neuropsychological evaluation could provide
information relevant to determining the Student’s educational needs, such as information
concerning executive functioning issues (including visual-spatial relationships, memory, and
abstract reasoning) beyond what was tested in the previous evaluations. Accordingly, Petitioner

has met her burden of proof on Issue 2.

3. Failure to Provide an Appropriate IEP and Placement (Issues 3 & 4)

The “primary vehicle” for implementing the goals of the IDEA is the IEP, which the
statute “mandates for each child.” Harris v. District of Columbia, 561 F. Supp. 2d 63, 65
(D.D.C. 2008) (citing Honig v. Doe, 484 U.S. 305, 311-12 (1988)). An IEP is a comprehensive
written plan that must include, among other things: (1) “a statement of the child’s present levels
of academic achievement and functional performance, including ... how the child’s disability -
affects the child’s improvement and progress in the general education curriculum”; (2) “a
statement of measurable annual goals, including academic and functional goals, designed to ...
meet the child’s needs that result from the child’s disability to enable the child to be involved in
and make progress in the general education curriculum...and meet each of the child’s other
education needs that result from the child’s disability”; (3) “a description of how the child’s
progress toward meeting the annual goals...will be measured”; (4) “a statement of the special
education and related services and supplementary aids and services ...and a statement of the
program modifications or supports for school personnel that will be provided for the child”; and

(5) an explanation of the extent, if any, to which the child will not participate with non-disabled

2 The Hearing Officer also notes that DCPS’ informational manual for “Obtaining an Independent
Evaluation For Your Child” (at page 6) includes evaluation of “processing of visual and auditory material” as a
reason for conducting a neuropsychological evaluation. The Hearing Officer has taken judicial notice of this official
D.C. government manual.





children in any regular classes. 20 U.S.C. 1414(d)(1)(A)(i). See also 34 C.F.R. 300.320; DCMR
5-E3009.1.

To be sufficient to provide FAPE under the IDEA, an “IEP must be ‘reasonably
calculated’ to confer educational benefits on the child, but it need not ‘maximize the potential of
each handicapped child commensurate with the opportunity presented non-handicapped
children.” Anderson v. District of Columbia, 109 LRP 18615 (D.D.C. 2009), slip op. at 6,
quoting Board of Education v. Rowley, 458 U.S. 176,200,207 (1982).* Judicial and hearing
officer review of IEPs is “meant to be largely prospective and to focus on a child’s needs
looking forward; courts thus ask whether, at the time an IEP was created, it was ‘reasonably
calculated to enable the child to receive educational benefits.”” * Moreover, DCPS must
periodically update and revise an IEP “in response to new information regarding the child’s
performance, behavior, and disabilities.” Maynard v. District of Columbia, 54 IDELR 158
(D.D.C. 2010), slip op. at p. 6.; see 34 C.F.R. 300.324.

The issue of whether an IEP is appropriate is a question of fact for hearing. See, e.g.,
S.H. v. State-Operated School Dist. of Newark, 336 F. 3d 260, 271 (3d Cir. 2003). “Ultimately,
the question ...is whether or not [the] defects in the ...IEP are so significant that [DCPS] failed
to offer [the Student] a FAPE.” N.S. v. District of Columbia, 709 F. Supp. 2d 57 (D.D.C. 2010),
slip op. at 20.

Petitioner claims that DCPS denied the Student a FAPE by failing to provide an
appropriate IEP on 02/14/2011, in that the IEP prescribes: (a) insufficient hours of specialized
instruction; (b) an inappropriate setting for specialized instruction; (c¢) inappropriate goals and
objectives; (d) no baselines; and (e) no OT services. See Complaint, p. 2, paragraph 13.
Petitioner also claims that DCPS failed to provide an appropriate educational placement on that
same date, because the Student needs small class sizes, in a full-time Out of General Education
program for students with learning disabilities. The “placement” claim substantially overlaps the

“inappropriate setting” portion of the IEP claim in this particular case. In both instances,

* See also Kerkam v. McKenzie, 862 F. 2d 884 (D.C. Cir. 1988); J G. v. Abington School, 51 IDELR 129
(E.D. Pa. 2008), slip op. at 8 (“while the proposed IEP may not offer [the student] the best possible education, it is
nevertheless adequate to advance him a meaningful educational benefit. ). ’

* Schaffer v. Weast, 554 F.3d 470,477 (4th Cir. 2009) (citing Rowley, 458 U.S. at 207); see also Fuhrmann
v. East Hanover Bd. of Educ., 993 F.2d 1031, 1040 (3d Cir. 1993) (whether an IEP is appropriate “can only be
determined as of the time it is offered for the student, and not at some later date”).
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Petitioner alleges that the Student requires an IEP and placement in a setting wholly outside

general education, with full-time specialized instruction and a small student-teacher ratio.

(a)  Hours and Setting of Specialized Instruction

In closing argument, Petitioner stressed that her primary challenge to the IEP involved
the hours and setting of the specialized instruction — i.e., that 10 hours of inclusion services was
inadequate to meet the Student’s needs as of 02/14/2011. The Hearing Officer concludes that
Petitioner proved this claim by a preponderance of the evidence. The evidence shows that the
Student struggled academically during the first half of the 2010-11 school year when DCPS
failed to implement all of the pull-out services on his earlier IEP. And there is little evidence to
suggest that he would now do better without any pull-out instruction. The Special Education
Teacher testified that she thought the Student would benefit from extra help with reading
instruction, which may not be fully available in an inclusion setting. See Spec. Ed Teacher
Test.(cross examination). In addition, the SEC’s testimony that she “does not believe in” pull-out
instruction within the School (SEC Test.) “suggests that the change away from pull-out services
[may have been] driven by the school’s needs rather than [the Student’s].” N.S. v. District of
Columbia, supra, slip op. at 24. The IEP must drive plaéement, not the other way around. See 34
C.F.R. 300.116 (b) (2).

Upon consideration of all the testimony and evidence presented, the Hearing Officer
concludes that in order for the IEP to be reasonably calculated to confer educational benefits on
the Student at this juncture, it must be revised to include at least 10 hours of pull-out specialized
instruction until the Student is able to close some of the gap between her academic performance
and grade-level standards. If the Student had not been making adequate progress under an IEP
providing 15 hours of pull-out instruction, it simply is not reasonable to expect greater progress
with a smaller volume of services in a larger setting. At least, DCPS has not adequately justified

such a change on the present record.

(b)  Inappropriate Goals

Petitioner presented expert testimony establishing that a number of the goals stated in the
02/14/2011 IEP were not appropriéte to meet the Student’s educational needs, so as to enable the
Student to be involved in and make progress in the general education curriculum (34 C.F.R.

300.320(a) (2)). For example, Reading Goals 4 and 5 appear to be geared to a much higher level
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than is realistically achievable by the Student during the present school year, given that the
Student’s Reading Comprehension scores were only at the 1.9 GE level in November 2010. See
EA Test.; P-12. Similarly, his Written Language scores are too low for some of the goals (e.g., #
2 and #3) in the Written Expression area. Id. Petitioner’s expert also pointed out that the
02/14/2011 IEP contains no math goal relating to word problems. EA Test.

(¢c)  Missing Baseline Data

Petitioner alleged that the 02/14/2011 IEP contained no baseline information for any of
the Reading, Math and Written Expression goals, see P-5, pp. 2-4, which would mean that the
Student’s progress could not be effectively measured in these critical areas. See EA4 Test.
However, DCPS submitted what appears to be a more complete copy of the 02/14/2011 IEP

containing baseline information. See R-5, pp. 3-5.

@) OT Services

Finally, Petitioner claims that the 02/14/2011 IEP fails to provide OT services that the
Team specifically found to be warranted based on the independent OT evaluation. However, this
appears to be an oversight. DCPS agrees that OT services should have been included in the IEP,
and the evidence indicates that OT services have in fact been provided to the Student after
February 2011. Of course, “[o]ne of the purposes of the IEP is to ensure that the services
provided are formalized in a written document that can be assessed by parents and challenged if
necessary.” N.S. v. District of Columbia, supra, slip op. at 26. DCPS therefore will be ordered to
revise the IEP to expressly incorporate the direct OT services.

In sum, Petitioner has proved by a preponderance of the evidence that the 02/14/2011 IEP
should have included the above program elements and information. Accordingly, to the extent
discussed above, Petitioner has shown that the IEP was not “reasonably calculated” to confer

educational benefits on the Student at the time it was created.

4, Procedural — Parent Participation (Issue 5)

The IDEA requires that parents have meaningful participation in the placement decisions
involving their child. See 20 U.S.C. 1414(e); 34 CFR 300.116(a) (1), 300.327. Specifically,
each public agency must “ensure that the parents of each child with a disability are members of

any group that makes decisions on the educational placement of their child.” Id., 1414(e);
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300.327. The team does not have to agree with the parent’s proposal or concerns,” but it is
required to listen to the parent’s concerns and consider them, rather than issuing unilateral
decrees. DCPS also is permitted to conduct its own investigation and identification of possible
placement sites (i.e, those that meet regulatory requirements and have available space and
resources to accommodate a particular student), as long as the parent participates meaningfully in
the placement process. Meaningful participation necessarily includes being part of the discussion
of appropriate and available schools, as well as the ultimate team placement deterrriination. 6

In this case, Petitioner alleges that DCPS failed to ensure meaningful parent participation
in the decision making process regarding the IEP and placement in February 2011. The evidence
appears to confirm this contention. For example, the SEC testified that she never even read the
detailed analysis of Woodcock-Johnson III results (P-12) that was submitted by the Student’s
educational advocate between the dates of the two February meetings to demonstrate the

Student’s relative lack of progress. See SEC Test. (cross examination).
C. Requested Relief

The IDEA authorizes the Hearing Officer to fashion “appropriate” relief, e.g., 20 U.S.C.
§1415(i)(2)(C)(iii), and such authority entails “broad discretion” and implicates “equitable
considerations,” Florence County Sch. Dist. Four v. Carter, 510 U.S. 7, 15-16 (1993); Reid v.
District of Columbia, 401 F.3d 516, 521-24 (D.C. Cir. 2005). In this case, Petitioner requests the
Hearing Officer to order DCPS to: (a) immediately place and fund the Student at Private School;
(b) fund an independent neuropsychological evaluation of the Student; (c) convene an MDT/IEP
team meeting to review and revise the IEP; and (d) fund or provide appropriate compensatory

education.

> See, e.g., T.Y. v. New York City Dept. of Educ., 2009 U.S. App. LEXIS 22238 (Oct. 9, 2009), at *5
(parents entitled to “input” into, not “veto” over, school choice).

¢ See, e.g., Paoellav. District of Columbia, 210 F. Appx. 1 (D.C. Cir. 2006) (DCPS’ designation of a
particular public school conformed with IDEA’s placement requirements where record showed that parents “had a
meaningful opportunity to participate” and “placement suggested by DCPS was not predetermined™); T.T. v. District
of Columbia, 48 IDELR 127 (D.D.C. 2007) (“The IDEIA requires that the parents of a student with a disability be
members of any group making a decision regarding the student’s placement....In [DCPS’] typical placement
process, the [DCPS] placement recommendations are then “offer[ed] to the parent during an MDT placement
meeting.”).
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For the reasons discussed above, the Hearing Officer grants requests (b) and (c), and
incorporates appropriate directives in the Order. However, the Hearing Officer declines to grant
request (a) because Petitioner has not shown that the Student’s unique needs can be appropriately
met only in a full-time, non-public, out-of-general-education school for learning disabled
students. Nor has Petitioner shown that Private School even meets those requirements. See
Branham v. District of Columbia, 427 F. 3d 7, 12 (D.C. Cir. 2005); McKenzie v. Smith, 771 F.2d
1527, 1531 (D.C. Cir. 1985). Petitioner thus has not shown that this setting would provide the
least restrictive environment (LRE) for the Student at this time. See 34 C.F.R. 300.114, 300.116.
Moreover, where an appropriate non-public special education school or program is available
within the District of Columbia, that option must be given priority over facilities outside of the

District. See D.C. Code 38-2561.02. Private School is located in suburban Virginia.

Compensatory education is an equitable remedy available to a hearing officer, exercising
his authority to grant “appropriate” relief under IDEA. Under the theory of ‘compensatory
education,’ courts and hearing officers may award ‘educational services...to be provided
prospectively to compensate for a past deficient program.” Reid v. District of Columbia, 401 F.
3d at 521 (quotations omitted). Accordingly, based on careful consideration of all the testimony
and evidence adduced in this case, the Hearing Officer concludes that 100 hours of independent
tutoring would be an appropriate equitable remedy under the circumstances. The independent
tutoring would reasonably compensate the Student for the missed pull-out specialized instruction
in Reading, Math, and Written Expression, and would likely get her to a point the Student would
have been expected to reach by now had she received such services. The evidence showed that
the Student is getting ready to enter the 6™ grade, but is generally performing at no more than the
2d-3d grade level in most academic areas. Petitioner’s expert estimated that she would have been
expected to be working on at least 3d-4" grade material at this point, had she received all her

required and appropriate services. See EA Test.; P-12.7

Tt appears that the Student would benefit most from tutoring in the areas of Reading and Written
Expression. The 02/02/2011 MDT’s review of the Student’s standardized test scores indicate that she dropped two
points on Reading , but has improved somewhat on Math. See R-1, p. 2. See also EA Test. (conceding some progress
in math as measured by the two sets of W-J IIl scores); P-12, p.2; Spec Ed. Teacher Test. (Student has been more
successful in math than reading).
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The award meets the Reid standard ® because it has been shown to be (1) reasonably
calculated to provide the educational benefits that likely would have accrued from special
education services that DCPS should have supplied in the first place during the relevant time
period (i.e., approximately August 2010 to the present), and (2) reasonably tailored to the unique
needs and deficits of the Student. The compensatory education award addresses the Student’s
specific deficiencies by enabling her to gain skills and other benefits she likely would have
obtained had she not missed required pull-out services and had she not been placed in an

inappropriate setting during the past school year.

VI. ORDER

Based upon the above Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law, and the entire record
herein, it is hereby ORDERED:

1. Petitioner shall be authorized to obtain an independent neuropsychological
evaluation, at the expense of DCPS and consistent with DCPS publicly
announced criteria for [EEs. Petitioner shall make reasonable efforts to have such
evaluation completed within 45 calendar days of this Order. Upon completion,
Petitioner shall cause copies of the reports to be sent directly to DCPS’
Compliance Case Manager.

2. Within 30 calendar days of receiving the independent evaluation report, DCPS
shall convene a meeting of the Student’s MDT/IEP Team with all necessary
members (including Petitioner) to: (a) review the results of the evaluation; (b)
review all other updated information regarding the child’s performance, behavior,
and disabilities; (c) review and revise the Student’s IEP, as appropriate and
consistent with this HOD and the updated information; and (d) discuss and
determine an appropriate educational placement and/or location of services that
can meet the Student’s needs and implement an appropriate, revised IEP for the
2011-12 school year.

3. Petitioner is awarded compensatory education as follows: Unless the parties agree
otherwise, DCPS shall pay for 100 hours of individual academic tutoring
services for the Student in Reading, Written Expression, and Math during the
2011 summer and the 2011-2012 school year, at a rate not to exceed the current

8 See Reid v. District of Columbia, 401 F. 3d at 524 (“In every case, however, the inquiry must be fact-
specific and, to accomplish IDEA’s purposes, the ultimate award must be reasonably calculated to provide the
educational benefits that likely would have accrued from special education services the school district should have
supplied in the first place.”); see also Friendship Edison Public Charter School v. Nesbitt, 532 F. Supp. 2d 121, 125
(D.D.C. 2008) (compensatory award must be based on a ‘“’qualitative, fact-intensive’ inquiry used to craft an award
‘tailored to the unique needs of the disabled student’).
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established market rate in the District of Columbia for such services, beginning
within 30 calendar days of this Order.

4, Petitioner’s other requests for relief in her Due Process Complaint filed April 1,
2011, are hereby DENIED.

5. This case shall be, and hereby is, CLOSED.

IT IS SO ORDERED. A —
/o é)/ e
ﬁ’ﬁ/* 8 . ’/v)
Dated: June 22, 2011 Impartial Hearing Officer

NOTICE OF RIGHT TO APPEAL

This is the final administrative decision in this matter. Any party aggrieved by the findings and
decision made herein has the right to bring a civil action in any District of Columbia court of
competent jurisdiction or in a District Court of the United States, without regard to the amount in
controversy, within ninety (90) days from the date of the Decision of the Hearing Officer in
accordance with 20 U.S.C. §1415(i)(2).
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JURISDICTION:

The hearing was conducted and this decision was written pursuant to the Individuals with
Disabilities Act (“IDEA”), P.L. 101-476, as amended by P.L. 105-17 and the Individuals with
Disabilities Education Improvement Act of 2004, the District of Columbia Code, Title 38 Subtitle
VII, and the District of Columbia Municipal Regulations, Title 5 Chapter E30. The Due Process
Hearing was convened June 22, 2011, at the OSSE Student Hearing Office 810 First Street, NE,
Washington, DC 20003, in Hearing Room 2004.

BACKGROUND:

Student or “the student” is age in the grade and has been determined eligible as a
child with a disability under IDEA in need of special education and related services with a
disability classification of emotional disturbance (“ED”). The student is enrolled at a District of

Columbia charter school that is its own local educational agency (“LEA”), hereinafter to as
“School A.”

The parent Petitioner filed a due process complaint on March 30, 2011, alleging, inter alia, that
School A had failed to conduct triennial evaluations of the student, specifically a psychiatric
evaluation and had failed to provide the student an appropriate placement. Petitioner initially
alleged claims against both School A and DCPS; however, DCPS was eventually dismissed as a
respondent based on the fact that period for which the violations were alleged the student
attended School A.2 :

A pre-hearing conference in this matter was held on May 3, 2011, at which the issues alleged in
the complaint were discussed. The parties agreed for the full 30-day resolution period to run in
hopes that their continued discussions would result in a settlement of all issues. A pre-hearing
order was issued on May 6, 2011. A second pre-hearing conference was held on May 12, 2011,
and second pre-haring order was issued on May 17, 2011.3 On June 1, 2011, the parties
submitted a joint motion to continue the hearing and extend the decision date so that there
settlement negotiations could continue and so a meeting could be convened to review recent
evaluations of the student. An interim order of continuance was issued on June 13, 2011,
continuing the hearing and final HOD due date.

After the complaint was filed School A conducted evaluations of student, including a
psychological that included behavioral assessments. School A also conducted a functional
behavioral assessment “FBA”. On June 15, 2011, an IEP meeting was convened at School A at
which the student’s recent behavioral assessments and other records were reviewed. The
student’s individualized educational program was revised and behavior intervention plan (“BIP”)

2 An additional claim was alleged against DCPS for failure to provide the student transportation services.
Petitioner withdrew that claim with the expressed intention of filing the claim against the SEA.

3 The second pre-hearing conference was to obtain an update on the parties’ negotiations and to hear oral
argument on DCPS’ motion to be dismissed as a party. Prior to the second pre-hearing conference
Petitioner’s counsel expressed an intention to withdraw all claims against DCPS. The Hearing Officer
eventually issued an order dismissing all claims against DCPS without prejudice.






was developed. As a result of the meeting Petitioner agreed to withdraw all but one issue and
claim for relief in the complaint against School A. The parent reiterated her request to School A
for a psychiatric evaluation to be conducted. School A did not agree and maintained that the
student’s current psychiatric records and treating documents available to the team along with the
behavioral assessments were sufficient to determine the student’s continued eligibility and to
effectively program for the student. Thus, School A did not agree to have the psychiatric
conducted or agree to authorize an independent evaluation. Petitioner seeks as relief an
independent psychiatric evaluation. Petitioner’s counsel represented at the hearing that the cost
of an independent psychiatric evaluation was approximately

ISSUE: 4
The issue adjudicated is:

Whether School A failed to provide the student a FAPE by failing to conduct a timely triennial
evaluation, i.e. a psychiatric evaluation, which was last, conducted on March 20, 20087

RELEVANT EVIDENCE CONSIDERED:

This Hearing Officer considered the testimony of the witnesses and the documents submitted in
the parties’ disclosures (Petitioner’s Exhibits 1-11 and Respondent’s Exhibit 1-22) that were all
admitted into the record and are listed in Appendix A.5 Witnesses are listed in Appendix B.

FINDINGS OF FACT:®

1. The student is age in the grade and has been determined eligible as a
child with a disability under IDEA in need of special education and related services with
a disability classification of ED. The student is enrolled at a District of Columbia charter
school that is its own LEA, School A. (Respondent’s Exhibit 22)

2. In January 2008, while the student was attending a private school, DC Public Schools
conducted a psychological evaluation of the student. The evaluation assessed the
student’s cognitive abilities, her educational achievement and included a behavior
assessment. The evaluation determined the student had average cognitive and academic
abilities. The evaluation recommended further psychological assessment of the student’s

4 The alleged violation(s) and/or issue(s) listed in the complaint may not directly correspond to the issue(s) outlined
here. However, the parties agreed at the hearing that the issue(s) listed here and as stated in the pre-hearing order
dated March 14, 2011, are the issue(s) to be adjudicated.

5 The Hearing Officer also reviewed and considered the motion to dismiss filed by DCPS and briefs filed
by the parties regarding the transportation issue.

6 The evidence that is the source of the finding of fact is noted within a parenthesis following the finding. The
second number following the exhibit number denotes the page of the exhibit from which the fact was extracted.
When citing an exhibit that has been submitted by both parties separately the Hearing Officer may perhaps only cite
one party’s exhibit.






depression and a psychiatric evaluation to further examine her inappropriate and
problematic behavior. (Petitioner’s Exhibit 11)

On February 28, 2008, an independent psychiatric evaluation was conducted as a part of
evaluations conducted to determine an appropriate educational placement for the student.
(Petitioner’s Exhibit 11)

The independent psychiatric evaluator reviewed the student’s educational and medical
and family history. The evaluation report included a brief paragraph entitled: “Mental
Status Evaluation.” In this section the evaluator summarized the student’s affect and
behavior during a student interview. The evaluation report included the following
diagnosis for the student: Bipolar Disorder NOS, Attention Deficit/Hyperactivity
Disorder (“ADHD”) NOS, Posttraumatic Stress Disorder and Generalized Anxiety. The
evaluator recommended maintenance of the student’s then current medication regiment
under another medical doctor, and recommended that the student was in need of a full
time placement in a small therapeutic setting with a low teacher to student ratio to
facilitate specialized instruction. The evaluator also recommended the student receive
individual psychotherapy and group counseling. (Petitioner’s Exhibit 7)

Despite the recommendation in the psychiatric evaluation the parent was hopeful the
student could continue in a general education setting and the student has remained in a
general education setting. The student has attended School A and received special
education services in a general education setting at School A. (Parent’s testimony,
Respondent’s Exhibit 13)

During the 2009-2010 school year the student attended School A and an individualized
educational program (“IEP”) was developed for the student that included the following
weekly services: 7.5 hours of specialized instruction in the general education setting and
2 hours of behavioral support services outside the general education setting. School A
also maintained a BIP for the student. (Respondent’s Exhibit 1, Respondent’s Exhibit 2)

The student has continuously received out of school psychotherapy and medication
management with a psychiatrist for the past few years. Early in 2011 the student was
briefly hospitalized for suicidal actions and later returned to school. The student’s
diagnosis has not changed and remains as it was diagnosed in the student’s 2008
psychiatric evaluation. However, some of the student’s current therapeutic providers are
of the opinion the student’s diagnosis may need updating. However, no final
determination has been made. The parent is concerned about an accurate diagnosis for
the student and how that will impact the student in her next education setting and seeks
an independent psychiatric reevaluation to assist in that process. The student will not be
returning to School A for the 2011-2012 school year because the school is closing. The
parent has applied to several other charter schools and has received a provisional
acceptance to one school but is awaiting other acceptances. The parent is hopeful the
student will be accepted to a charter school that has not yet provided an acceptance
decision. (Parent’s testimony)






8. InFebruary 2011, School A conducted a psychological reevaluation of the student. The
evaluation included cognitive, educational and behavioral assessments. The student’s
cognitive and educational abilities were determined to be in the average range. The
evaluator noted the student demonstrated significant inattention, anxiety and depression
and difficulty in dealing with peer relationships. The evaluator recommended continued
behavioral support services and outside therapy to help the student manage her behaviors
at home. (Petitioner’s Exhibit 10)

9. In May or June of 2011 School A also conducted a functional behavioral assessment
“FBA”. On June 15, 2011, an IEP meeting was convened at School A at which the
student’s recent behavioral assessments and other records were reviewed. The student’s
IEP was revised and BIP was updated. The parent reiterated her request to School A for a
psychiatric evaluation to be conducted. School A did not agree and maintained that the.
student’s current psychiatric records and treating documents available to the team along
with the behavioral assessments were sufficient to determine the student’s continued
eligibility and to effectively program for the student. Thus, School A did not agree to
have the psychiatric conducted or agree to authorize an independent evaluation. School
A’s special education coordinator attempted to have the student current treating therapist
participate in the IEP meeting and development but the therapist declined.
testimony, Respondent’s Exhibits 21 & 22)

10. The student’s IEP developed at the June 15, 2011, meeting provides for the following
weekly services: 7.5 hours of specialized instruction in the general education setting, 60
minutes of behavioral support services outside the general education setting and 30
minutes per month of behavior support consultation services. (Petitioner’s Exhibit 22)

CONCLUSIONS OF LAW:

Pursuant to IDEIA §1415 (£)(3)(E)(i) a decision made by a hearing officer shall be made on
substantive grounds based on a determination of whether the child received a free appropriate
public education (“FAPE”).

Pursuant to IDEIA §1415 (f)(3)(E)(ii) in matters alleging a procedural violation a hearing officer
may find that a child did not receive FAPE only if the procedural inadequacies impeded the
child’s right to FAPE, significantly impeded the parent’s opportunity to participate in the
decision making process regarding provision of FAPE, or caused the child a deprivation of
educational benefits.

Pursuant to SE DCMR 3030.14 the burden of proof is the responsibility of the party seeking
relief. 7 Schaffer v. Weast, 546 U.S. 49, 126 S.Ct. 528 (2005). In this case the student/parent
is seeking relief and has the burden of proof that the action and/or inaction or proposed
placement is inadequate or adequate to provide the student with FAPE.

7 The burden of proof shall be the responsibility of the party seeking relief. Based solely upon the
evidence presented at the hearing, an impartial hearing officer shall determine whether the party seeking
relief presented sufficient evidence to meet the burden of proof.






34 C.F.R. § 300.17 provides that a free appropriate public education or FAPE means special
education and related services that-- (a) Are provided at public expense, under public supervision
and direction, and without charge; (b) Meet the standards of the SEA, including the requirements
of this part; (c) Include an appropriate preschool, elementary school, or secondary school
education in the State involved; and (d) Are provided in conformity with an individualized
education program (IEP) that meets the requirements of Sec. 300.320 through 300.324.

Issue: Whether School A failed to provide the student a FAPE by failing to conduct a timely
triennial evaluation, i.e. a psychiatric evaluation, which was last, conducted on March 20, 2008?

Conclusion: School B did not conduct all necessary reevaluations of the student and should
conduct a psychiatric evaluation.

34 C.F.R. § 300.303 provides:
(a) General. A public agency must ensure that a reevaluation of each child with a
disability is conducted in accordance with Sec. Sec. 300.304 through 300.311--
(1) If the public agency determines that the educational or related services needs,
including improved academic achievement and functional performance, of the child
warrant a reevaluation; or '
(2) If the child's parent or teacher requests a reevaluation.
(b) Limitation. A reevaluation conducted under paragraph (a) of this section--
(1) May occur not more than once a year, unless the parent and the public agency agree
otherwise; and

(2) Must occur at least once every 3 years, unless the parent and the public agency agree
that a reevaluation is unnecessary.

34 CF.R. § 300.304 titled “Reevaluations” provides in pertinent part:

(b) In conducting the evaluation, the public agency must--

(1) Use a variety of assessment tools and strategies to gather relevant functional,
developmental, and academic information about the child, including information
provided by the parent, that may assist in determining--

(1) Whether the child is a child with a disability under Sec. 300.8; and

(i1) The content of the child's IEP, including information related to enabling the child to
be involved in and progress in the general education curriculum (or for a preschool child,
to participate in appropriate activities);

(2) Not use any single measure or assessment as the sole criterion for determining
whether a child is a child with a disability and for determining an appropriate educational
program for the child; and

(3) Use technically sound instruments that may assess the relative contribution of
cognitive and behavioral factors, in addition to physical or developmental factors.

(c) Other evaluation procedures. Each public agency must ensure that--...






(4) The child is assessed in all areas related to the suspected disability, including, if
appropriate, health, vision, hearing, social and emotional status, general intelligence,
academic performance, communicative status, and motor abilities; ...

(6) In evaluating each child with a disability under Sec. Sec. 300.304 through 300.306,
the evaluation is sufficiently comprehensive to identify all of the child's special education
and related services needs, whether or not commonly linked to the disability category in
which the child has been classified.

Although School A maintains that it conducted all the warranted assessments and reevaluations
required to determine the student’s education needs, the Hearing Officer is not convinced.
Although School A conducted behavior assessments and a FBA, the recent psychological
evaluation noted the student continues to exhibit significant inattention, anxiety and depression
and difficulty in dealing with peer relationships. In addition, within the most recent school
semester the student has been hospitalized for suicidal actions. Although School A staff has
attempted to have the student’s current outside therapeutic providers participate in her IEP
review and development they have been unable to do so. The previous psychiatric evaluation
recommended the student be placed in a full time therapeutic setting. Although the parent is
hopeful that the student can continue to be in a general education setting, she remains uncertain
as to the student’s accurate diagnosis and it is reasonable for her to insist that in the school’s
assessment of the student the evaluations are sufficiently comprehensive to identify all of the
student's special education and related services needs, whether or not commonly linked to the
disability category in which the child has been classified.

Pursuant to 34 C.F.R. § 300.304 provides:
Each public agency must ensure that--...
The child is assessed in all areas related to the suspected disability, including, if
appropriate, health, vision, hearing, social and emotional status, general intelligence,
academic performance, communicative status, and motor abilities; ...and ensure that in
evaluating each child with a disability under Sec. Sec. 300.304 through 300.306, the
evaluation is sufficiently comprehensive to identify all of the child's special education
and related services needs, whether or not commonly linked to the disability category in
which the child has been classified.

| The Hearing Officer concludes that under the facts of this case with a prior psychiatric

| evaluation recommending a full time therapeutic setting and a student who has recently been

| hospitalized for suicidal actions it is appropriate for School A to conduct a psychiatric

| reevaluation and the failure to do so deprived the parent and the IEP team of vital evaluative data
and significantly impeded the parent’s opportunity to meaningfully participate in the decision
making process regarding provision of FAPE.






ORDER:

School A shall within thirty calendar days of the date of this order
fund an independent psychiatric evaluation of the student at a cost not to exceed

APPEAL PROCESS:

The decision issued by the Hearing Officer is final, except that any party aggrieved by the
findings and decision of the Hearing Officer shall have 90 days from the date of the decision of
the Hearing Officer to file a civil action with respect to the issues presented at the due process
hearing in a District Court of the United States or a District of Columbia court of competent
jurisdiction, as provided in 20 U.S.C. §14153i)(2).

@7 Q;_,&d% 4

Coles B. Ruff, Esq.
Hearing Officer
Date: June 29, 2011











DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA
OFFICE OF THE STATE SUPERINTENDENT OF EDUCATION
Student Hearing Office
810 First Street, N.E., 2" Floor
Washington, DC 20002

In Re the Matter of:

Parent, on behalf of Student,

Petitioner, Date Issued: June 2, 2011
V. Hearing Officer: Ramona M. Justice
The District of Columbia Public Case Number: u
Schools (“DCPS”), ~
Respondent.

HEARING OFFICER DETERMINATION

I. JURISDICTION

This proceeding was invoked pursuant to the Individuals with Disabilities Act (“IDEA”),
P.L. 101-476, as amended by P.L. 105-17; reauthorized as the Individuals with Disabilities Education
Improvement Act of 2004 (“IDEIA”), Public Law 108-446 and 20 U.S.C. Sections 1400 et seq., Title 34
of the Code of Federal Regulations, Part 300; the Rules of the Board of Education of the District of
Columbia; Title 38 of the D.C. Code, Subtitle VII, Chapter 25; and Chapter 30, Title 5-E of the District of
Columbia Municipal Regulations (“DCMR”).

II. PROCEDURAL POSTURE

On April 18, 2011, the parent, through her Attorney, filed an “Administrative Due Process
Complaint Notice”, with the District of Columbia, Office of the State Superintendent of Education
(*OSSE”), Student Hearing Office. The complaint involves an issue of discipline; therefore, the
complaint is administered in accordance with the expedited due process hearing provisions of the IDEA.

On April 20, 2011, the Student Hearing Office assigned the due process complaint to this Hearing
Officer. On April 27,2011 the Respondent filed a response to the due process complaint notice. On
May 2, 2011, the Hearing Officer issued to the parties a “Notice of Prehearing and Due Process Hearing”,
notifying the parties that the prehearing conference is scheduled for May 5, 2011 at 4:00 p.m.; and the due
process hearing is scheduled for June 27, 2011 at 9:00 a. m... The Hearing Officer also issued to the
parties an Order requiring the parties to notify the Hearing Officer of the date, time, and outcome of the
resolution meeting. On May 5, 2011, the Hearing Officer issued an amended prehearing notice to reflect
a change in the proposed hearing date.






In an expedited due process complaint, the Respondent must convene a resolution meeting within
seven (7) calendar days from the date of the complaint, expiring in this matter on April 25, 2011. The
fifteen (15) day resolution period expired on May 18, 2011. The resolution meeting convened on
April 28, 2011; and the parties were unable to resolve the issues in the complaint. The due process
hearing must convene no later than May 24, 2011, within twenty (20) school days of the date the
complaint requesting the hearing is filed. The Hearing Officer must render a determination no later than
June 8, 2011, within ten (10) school days after the hearing.

The prehearing conference convened on May 5, 2011, at 4:00 p.m., as scheduled. On this date, the
Hearing Officer issued a prehearing order summarizing matters discussed during the prehearing
conference, issues to be decided by the Hearing Officer, and confirming the due process hearing for
May 23, 2011, at 9:00 a. m...

The due process hearing convened on May 23, 2011, at 9:00 a.m., at 810 First Street, N.E., 2nd
Floor, Washington, D.C., as scheduled, however, was delayed at the request of the parties, to provide an
additional opportunity to resolve the issues in the complaint. The hearing was closed to the public,
pursuant to the parents’ request. Each party was represented by an Attorney; and each Attorney provided
opening statements.

During discussion of preliminary matters, the parties informed the Hearing Officer that the parties
were willing to stipulate to certain facts, however, the stipulations failed to resolve the issues in the
complaint. As a result, the Hearing Officer decided that the hearing would proceed as scheduled; and
provided the parties the opportunity to submit joint stipulations of fact to the Hearing Officer, no later
than 4:30 p.m. on May 31, 2011. Joint stipulations were not submitted by the parties by the due date, and
therefore, are not included in the record. There were no other preliminary matters for the Hearing Officer
to decide, prior to proceeding with a hearing on the merits.

The Respondent offered into evidence Respondent’s exhibits 1-2; and the Petitioner offered into
evidence Petitioner’s exhibits1-9, renumbered as Petitioner’s exhibits 1-30. Receiving no objections, the
Hearing Officer admitted into the record as evidence Petitioner’s exhibits 1-9, and Respondent’s exhibits
1-2. It was subsequently determined that the Petitioner’s exhibits were not properly numbered; and the
exhibits alre renumbered and identified as Petitioner’s Exhibits 1-30; and admitted into the record as
evidence.

Petitioner’s witnesses included: the parent, student, and the Admissions Director, of the
school. The Respondent presented no witnesses, resting on the record.

The due process hearing concluded with the Petitioner and Respondent providing closing
statements; and requesting that the Hearing Officer find in each party’s favor on the issues in the
complaint.

! The Petitioner is admonished for failing to properly identify and tab the exhibits offered into evidence, as ordered by this
Hearing Officer in the prehearing order. Failure to properly tab and identify disclosures submitted in the future will result in
the disclosures not being admitted into evidence.






III. BACKGROUND

The student is : years of age; and resides in the District of Columbia with the
Petitioner. During the 2009/10 school year the student attended a District of
Columbia Public Charter School. On March 10, 2010, while attending the charter school, the Respondent
developed an Individualized Education Program (IEP) for the student, prescribing 25 hours of specialized
instruction, outside the general education setting, 1 hour of behavioral support services, 1 hour speech
language services, weekly; and a full-time dedicated aide.

During the Summer 2010, the student’s school closed and the student was placed at the student’s
neighborhood high school a District of Columbia public high school, for the 2010/11 school year. In
February, 2011, while attending the high school, the student received a long-term suspension; and was
placed at an interim alternative educational setting.

On April 18, 2011, the Petitioner, through her Attorney, filed this due process complaint
challenging the Respondent’s compliance with the disciplinary procedures of the IDEA, in rendering the
manifestation determination and initiating a change in the student’s placement; implementation of the
student’s May 5, 2010 IEP; the appropriateness of the alternative placement; and the Respondent’s
alleged failure to respond to parent’s requests for a change in the student’s placement.

IV. ISSUES

The issues before the Hearing Officer are as follows:

(1) Whether the District of Columbia Public Schools denied the student a free appropriate public
education, because on February 10, 2011, the Respondent initiated a change in the student’s
placement by suspending the student for 45 days without complying with the discipline procedures of
the IDEA; and determined that the student’s disability was not a manifestation of the student’s
disability, in violation of the IDEA, at §§300.530, 300.536, and 20 U.S.C. §1415(k)(5)?

(2) Whether the District of Columbia Public Schools denied the student a free appropriate public
education by failing to implement the student May 5, 2010 Individualized Education Program (IEP),
because it failed to ensure that as soon as possible following development of the IEP, the student
received a full-time special education program, outside the general education setting, 2 hours of
behavioral support services, weekly; and a dedicated aide, as prescribed in the student’s IEP; in
violation of the IDEA, at 34 C.F.R. §§300.301 and 300.323(c)(2)?

(3) Whether the District of Columbia Public Schools denied the student a free appropriate public
education, because during the 2010/11 school year, it failed to provide the student an appropriate
placement, because the location of services identified in the student’s May 5, 2010 IEP, is unable to
provide the student the full-time special education program, outside general education, which the
student require(s) to access the general education curriculum; and receive educational benefit; in
violation of the IDEA, at 34 C.F.R. §§300.301, 300.323, 300.114 (a)(2)(ii), and 300.116?

(4) Whether the District of Columbia Public Schools denied the student a free appropriate public
education (FAPE); by failing to respond to parent’s December 29, 2010, February 16, 2011, and
March 11, 2011 requests for a change in the student’s placement, by issuing to the parent a Prior
Written Notice within a reasonable time, prior to the agency’s decision refusing to initiate a change in
the student’s educational placement, in violation of the IDEA, at 34 C.F.R. §300.503(a) (2)?
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V. RELIEF REQUESTED

The Petitioner requests that the Hearing Officer find in its favor on each issue identified in the
Prehearing Order; and issue an Order requiring the Respondent to fund the student’s placement and
transportation, to attend The reimbursement of any costs incurred
by the parent for unilateral placement of the student at the school; and compensatory
education services due to violations occurring during the 2010/11 school year.

V1. CREDIBILITY DETERMINATIONS

The Hearing Officer finds that the testimony of all witnesses was credible. The Respondent
presented no witnesses to refute the testimony of Petitioner’s witnesses.

VII. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

After considering all the evidence, as well as the arguments of both counsel, this Hearing Officer’s
Statement of the Case is as follows:

1. The student is years of age and resides in the District of Columbia with the
Petitioner.” The student is disabled and eligible to receive special education and related
services under the Individuals with Disabilities Education Act (IDEA).? The student’s
disability classification is Mental Retardation.*

2. During the 2009/10 school year, the student attended a District of
Columbia Public Charter School for a 90 day trial period.” During the Summer 2010, the
charter school closed and the student was placed at the student’s neighborhood school, a
District of Columbia public high school, for the 2010/11 school year.® In February, 2011,
while attending the high school, the student was received a long-term suspension; and was
placed at an interim alternative educational setting for one (1) ye:ar.7

3. OnApril 2, 2009, the Respondent convened a Multidisciplinary Development Team (MDT)
meeting to conduct an annual review of the student’s IEP.

4. The student’s educational record reflects that throughout the student’s education the student
struggled academically and behaviorally.” The student was retained in the 1% and 4" grades,
and as of May 6, 2010, was failing the 9" grade.'’

The student’s January 25, 2010 Report Card reflects that the student failed all classes except
the student received a grade of “D: in Freshman Seminar and a grade of “C” in Life Centered
Career Education.''

? Testimony of parent.

* Petitioner’s Exhibit 14,

* Petitioner’s Exhibit 27-1.

> Petitioner’s Exhibit 26-1.

8 Testimony of parent.

’ Testimony of parent, student, Respondent’s Exhibit 1-1, 1-2, 1-3.

® Petitioner’s Exhibit §-1.

? Petitioner’s Exhibits 14-1 through 14-3, 16-22, 28-5, 28-7 through 28-10, and 28-13.
1% petitioner’s Exhibit 28-5.

' Petitioner’s Exhibit 22-1 and 14-1.






The student’s school transcript dated March 10, 2010 reflects a grade lpomt average of 2.0 for
the 2009/10 school year; and a cumulative grade point average of .60. © The student received
failing grades in Transition to Advanced Mathematics, Strategic Reading, and Blology I;a
grade of “D” in Freshman Seminar; and a grade of “C” in Live Centered Career." The
student’s March 10, 2011 IEP Progress Report reflects that while attending the District of
Columbia Pubhc Charter School, the student made no academic progress during the third
reporting period.'*

On March 10, 2010, while attending School, the
Respondent developed an IEP for the student prescribing 25 hours of specialized instruction
services, outside the general education settmg, weekly, 1 hour behavioral support services,
weekly; and 1 hour speech language services, weekly.'

The Respondent also determined that classroom interventions and behavioral supports
previously employed were unsuccessful, and the student required constant support in and out
of the general education setting to be successful and make academic progress; and included in
the student’s IEP a full-time dedicated aide.'®

On March 10, 2010, the Respondent completed a “Family to Family Support Referral Form-
Social Services” indicating that the student can work approximately 10 minutes with an adult
by his side; without an aide to provide constant attention and assistance with directions and
class assignments, the student will leave the classroom or not come to class at all; and while
the student received counseling and behavioral intervention plans, the interventions and
behavioral supports have not satisfactorily addressed the student’s behavior needs; and a
dedlcated aide is necessary due to the extensive attention that this aide can provide the
student.'’

On May 17, 2010, the Superior Court of the District of Columbia, Family Court-Court Social
Services D1v151on Child Guidance Clinic, completed a “Confidential Psycho-educational
Evaluation”.'® The student was referred for evaluation to assess the student’s level of
cognitive, academic, adaptive and personality functioning and risk assessment in order to make
recommendations to the Court regarding intervention and placement because the student’s
school, was closing and the student required
alternate placement. ' '

The student received a diagnosis of Developmental Disorder of Adolescence, NOS, Cannabis
Dependence, Mild Mental Retardation, and the evaluator recommended additional testing to
rule out Pervasive Developmental Disorder, NOS.?® Testing places the student in the overall
extremely low range of cognitive functlomng and the student’s Woodcock Johnson III scores
are in the second and third grade levels.?!

12 petitioner’s Exhibit 14-1.

B petitioner’s Exhibit 14-1.

' Petitioner’s Exhibit 11-1 through 11-5.
13 Petitioner’s Exhibit 10-14 and 10-22.
16 petitioner’s Exhibit 10-22.

17 petitioner’s Exhibit 25-1.

'® petitioner’s Exhibit 28-1.

'% petitioner’s Exhibit 28-2.

2 petitioner’s Exhibit 28-12.

2! petitioner’s Exhibit 28-13.





In addition to the Intellectual Disability, the student has a significant level of emotional
1ncapa01ty, mood swings, anxiety or phobias, temper tantrums, impaired social skills and poor
Judgment The evaluator made several recommendations including however not limited to a
GAINS assessment to consider the need for inpatient detoxification; a Neurological Evaluation
to rule out seizure activity, neurotoxicity, or other complicating factors in the student’s
behavior; referral to one of the Core Agencies for wrap around service; updated
Speech/Language evaluation; a Psychiatric Evaluation to rule out additional mood disorder
symptoms.

8. On May 19, 2010, the Respondent convened a Multidisciplinary Development and
Manifestation Determination Team meeting to discuss the student’s reentry from a 10 day
suspension; and determine whether the student’s conduct was a manifestation of the student’s
disability The team determined that the student’s behavior was a manifestation of the
student’s disability; and assigned the student a dedicated aide to monitor the student’s daily
work, routines and social interactions, while at school.”

9. During the Summer of 2010, the student’s attending school,
School, closed and the student was placed at a District of
Columbia public high school; and the student’s neighborhood school.*®

10. On September 29, 2010, the Respondent issued to the Petitioner a Notice of Final Disciplinary
Decision notifying the Petitioner that the student’s proposed suspension was upheld because
on September 23, 2010, the student caused disruption on school properties or at any DCPS
sponsored or supervised activity; and the student would endure an off-site suspens1on from
September 24, 2010 through September 30, 2010, returning on October 1, 20107

11. On November 18, 2010, the Respondent issued to the Petitioner a Notice of Proposed
Disciplinary Action, notifying the Petitioner that the Respondent proposed an off-site long
term suspension of the student because on November 18, 2010, the student physically
assaulted another student/ staff.?®

12. On November 30, 2010, the Respondent issued to the Petitioner a Notice of Final Disciplinary
Decision notifying the Petitioner that the student’s proposed long term suspension was upheld
because on November 17, 2010, the student assaulted another student, vandalized the student’s
classroom, and caused the student’s teacher to flee the classroom; and the student would
endure a 90 day off-site suspension at from November 18, 2010 through
April 28,2011.%

214d.

2 Petitioner’s Exhibit 28-13 and 28-14.

24 Petitioner’s Exhibit 1.

z: Petitioner’s Exhibit 1-3 and Petitioner’s Exhibit 2-1.
1d.

%7 Respondent’s Exhibit 1-6.

2% Respondent’s Exhibit 1-14.

¥ Respondent’s Exhibit 1-5.





13. On December 29, 2010, the Petitioner, through her Attorney, forwarded an email to the
Principal at Cardozo Senior High School, stating that it appears that the school is unable to
meet the student’s educational needs; the student had a full-time IEP at his previous school and
his disabilities clearly require a higher degree of intensity and structure than any program that
serves a general population of students can provide; and requested a meeting prior to January
15, 2010, to discuss altematlve academic settings such as Florence Bertell or Ivymount or the
like can be considered.*

14. On January 11, 2011, the Respondent convened a manifestation determination meeting
regarding an incident occurring on January 6, 2011, wherein the team determined that the
student’s behav1or was a manifestation of the student’s disability.>' The Petitioner was present
at the meeting.*?

15. On January 12, 2011, the Respondent issued to the Petitioner a Notice of Final Disciplinary
Decision notifying the Petitioner that the student’s behavior on November 18, 2010 was a Tier
5.09 behavior, described as assault/physical attack on student or staff; the proposed long term
suspension was approved, beginning on November 18, 2010 through April 27, 2011, returning
on April 28, 2011; and that the student will attend for the duration of the
off-site long-term suspension, and that the Petitioner should contact for
immediate enrollment.*

16. On January 18, 2011, the student and another student were witnessed by a teacher setting
firecrackers in the hallway and observed on security surveillance video running from the

scene. 34

17. On January 19, 2011, the Respondent met with the student to discuss the January 18, 2011
firecracker incident; and determined that the student was responsible for the conduct, and
proposed an emergency suspension of the student.>

18. On January 19, 2011, the Respondent issued to the Petitioner a Long-Term Suspension &
Expulsion/Emergency, Notice of Proposed Disciplinary Action notifying the Petitioner that the
school met with the student to discuss the incident involving emergency condition, and based
on the interview with the student, the school determined that the student’s is responsible for
this conduct, and that the school proposed an emergency suspension of the student for the
January 18, 2011 incident.*®

The school also informed Petitioner that due to the emergency conditions of the incident, the
student shall not be admitted to school until the Instructional Superintendent’s office, as
designated by the Chancellor, has reviewed all information relating to this matter; and the
Instructional Superintendent will either authorize or modify the proposed disciplinary action;
and if an emergency suspensmn is upheld the Office of Youth Engagement would contact the
Petitioner to schedule a hearing.’’

% Petitioner’s Exhibit 29-5.

3! Respondent’s Exhibit 2-1.

21d.

% Respondent’s Exhibit 1-8.

*1d.

3% Respondent’s Exhibit 1-10.

3 Respondent’s Exhibit 1-10 and 1-12
37 Respondent’s Exhibit 1-10.






The school requested that the parent arrange to retrieve an Educational Plan for the student;
that the parent ensure that the plan is completed by the student which will make up class
assignments, homework, and exams without penalty.3 8

19. On January 21, 2011, the Respondent convened a manifestation determination meeting with
the parent to discuss the January18, 2011 incident; and the January 19, 2011 notice of
proposed disciplinary action.** The Petitioner participated in the meeting via telephone.40The
Respondent determined that the student’s behavior was not a manifestation of the student’s
disability.*!

20. On January 31, 2011, the Respondent conducted a hearing to discuss the January 18, 2011
incident involving the student, and the school’s proposed expulsion of the student.**

21. On February 15, 2011, the Respondent developed an IEP for the student prescribing 27.5
hours of specialized instruction services; 1 hour behavioral support, and 1 hour speech
language services, weekly; and a dedicated aide.*

22. On February 16, 2011, the District of Columbia Public Schools, Targeted Student Support,
Office of Youth Engagement, issued to the Petitioner a “Notice of Final Disciplinary
Decision” notifying the Petitioner that during the hearing, it was substantiated that the student
was lighting and throwing firecrackers in a school hallway, and that after carefully considering
the findings of the hearing and documentation of the incident, the District of Columbia Public
Schools decided to uphold the proposed disciplinary action.** The notice also informed the
Petitioner that the consequence for the January 18, 2011 incident was a one year off-site
expulsion from school, and placement of the student at from January 19,
2011 through January 18, 2012.%

23. On February 16, 2011, the Respondent provided the Petitioner the “Notice of Final
Disciplinary Action” informing the Petitioner that the student’s behavior was a Tier 5.07
behavior, described as Possession of Fireworks or Explosives; that the proposed disciplinary
action was approved; the period of expulsion; the student would attend for
the duration of the expulsion; and that the parent should contact for
immediate enrollment.*®

- The Respondent provided the Petitioner, a “Parent/Guardian and Student Rights” notice,
informing the Petitioner of her rights, prior to imposition of the disciplinary action. 4" The
Respondent also issued to the parent a “Student Referral Form”, referring the student from

to as the alternate placement for the student,
during the student’s period of expulsion.*®

*1d.
3 Respondent’s Exhibit 2-2.
40

1d.
“1d.
*2 Respondent’s Exhibit 1-1,
* Petitioner’s Exhibit 27-6.
* Respondent’s Exhibit 1-1.
“1d.
%6 Respondent’s Exhibit 1-3.
47 Respondent’s Exhibit 1-4.
*® Respondent’s Exhibit 1-2.






The Petitioner and student toured the school and obtained information regarding the services
and program at the school.*® The student attended the school for approximately one week, and
although the parent was not aware of whether the student received services or had any
information regarding the student’s experience at the school, the Petitioner decided to transfer
the student from to The of Washington, D.C., a
non-public school, because the Petitioner opined that was not good for
the student because the student knows too many students at the school”.

The student testified that he does not care for The
however, the Petitioner prefers that the student attend the school; at times he receives
assistance; and he does not have a dedicated aide at the school.

24. On February 16, 2011, the Petitioner, through her Attorney, forwarded an email to the
Principal at School, stating that the student’s IEP, evaluations, and file
was forwarded to the school, and it was his understanding that a meeting was recently held at
the school regarding the student; the student should not be suspended and is in desperate need
of a new educational setting; and requested that the school contact him via email regarding
placement options for the student, not as that placement is unable to meet
the student’s educational needs.*®

25. On March 3, 2011, the student was accepted at The a
non-public school.”’ The student began attending the school in March, 2011. '

26. On April 8, 2011, the Petitioner, through her Attorney, forwarded an email to the Principal at

requesting a more restrictive academic setting for the student,
representing that there was no response to Petitioner’s December 29, 2010 and February 16,
2011 requests for an alternate placement and the Respondent suspended the student and
recommended an alternative setting that is unable to implement the student’s IEP; and that the
Petitioner placed the student in an academic setting akin to the school the student attended
prior to its closure; and requested that the Respondent fund the alternate placement provided
by the Petitioner.”

27. On April 18, 2011, the Petitioner, through her Attorney, filed this due process complaint
challenging the Respondent’s compliance with the disciplinary procedures of the IDEA; the
appropriateness of the student’s placement during the 2010/11 school year.

* Testimony of Petitioner.

* Petitioner’s Exhibit 29-4.

*! Petitioner’s Exhibit 30-1.

52 Testimony of Admissions Director.
53 Petitioner’s Exhibit 29-2.





VIIIL. FINDINGS OF FACT

After considering all the evidence, as well as the arguments of both counsel, this Hearing Officer’s

Findings of Fact are as follows:

1. Compliance with Discipline Procedures in Suspending Student

Manifestation Determination

On January 19, 2011, the Respondent issued to the parent a Notice of Proposed Disciplinary
Action, notifying the parent that the school met with the student to discuss the incident and
determined that the student is responsible for the conduct; and that the school proposed an
emergency suspension of the student. ** The notice also provided that the student would not be
admitted to school until the Instructional Superintendent’s office, as designated by the Chancellor,
reviews the information relating to this matter, and renders a determination whether to authorize or
modify the proposed disciplinary action.>

On January 21, 2011, within ten (10) school days of the decision to propose an emergency
suspension of the student, the Respondent convened a manifestation determination meeting w1th
the LEA, parent, Special Education Specialist, Social Worker, Special Education Coordinator.*®
However, in administering the suspension the Respondent failed to comply with the disciplinary
procedures of the IDEA, for the following reasons:

First, the Respondent failed to ensure that the team that convened on January 21, 2011 included
relevant members of the student’s IEP team, particularly the student’s special education teacher.”’

Second, the Respondent failed to ensure that the team carefully considered all relevant information
in the student’s file, including the child’s IEP, any teacher observations, and any relevant
information provided by the parents to determine if the conduct in question was not caused by, or
had a direct and substantial relationship to the child’s disability; or if the conduct in question was
the direct result of the LEA’’s failure to implement the student’s IEP.

In fact, a review of the student’s file reflects that since the 2009/10 school year, the student
required the support of a full-tlme dedicated aide to access the general education curriculum and
receive educational benefit.”® A review of the student’s file reflects that the student’s March 10,
2010 IEP prescribes a full-time dedicated aide, however, since the begmmng of the 2010/11
school year, the Respondent failed to implement the student’s IEP by ensuring that the student
received the support of a full-time dedicated aide as prescribed in the student’s IEP.%

Third, the Respondent failed to consider all relevant information in determining whether this
student was one of the students involved in the incident of lighting fireworks in the school
hallway, and if so, whether the student’s conduct was a manifestation of the student’s disability,
by ensuring that the teacher that observed the January 18, 2011 incident was a member of the
team.

** Respondent’s Exhibit 1-10.

¥ 1d.

36 Respondent’s Exhibit 2-2.

57 Respondent’s Exhibit 2-2,

*® Petitioner’s Exhibit 10.

% Testimony of student, and parent.
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According to the teacher that witnessed the incident, there was a loud popping noise in the hallway
near her classroom and two young men dressed in black, one with his head covered in black, ran
away from the scene laughing and claiming that they or someone else was shooting up the
school.®* The teacher did not identify the individual involved in the incident as the student.®'

Fourth, the Respondent failed to consider all relevant information in rendering the manifestation
determination, by ensuring that the team that convened on January 21, 2011 included individuals
having relevant information regarding the January 18, 2011 incident. The Respondent failed to
ensure that the team included the custodian of the security surveillance video recording students
lighting fireworks in the school hallway on January 18, 2011; and the security survelllance video,
allegedly recording the student’s involvement in the January 18, 2011 incident.®

Fifth, the Respondent failed to ensure that the IEP team that convened on January 21, 2011 not
only determined whether the conduct in question was caused by, or had a direct and substantial
relationship to, the child’s disability, the team also had a responsibility to determine whether the
conduct in question was the direct result of the LEA’s failure to implement the student’s IEP;
however, the team failed in this regard.

In summary, the Respondent rendered the manifestation determination without the benefit of input
from the student’s teacher, a relevant member of the student’s IEP team; without carefully
considering all relevant information in the student’s file and IEP; without carefully considering
information received from individuals having relevant information regarding the January 18, 2011
incident and teacher observations; and without determining whether the conduct in question was
the direct result of the LEA’s failure to implement the student’s IEP.

For these reasons, the Hearing Officer finds that the Respondent failed to comply with the
procedural requirements of the IDEA, in rendering the January 19, 2011 manifestation

determination.

Change in Placement

The Hearing Officer finds that on February 16, 2011 the Respondent initiated a change in the
student’s placement by removing the student from the student’s placement for more than ten (10)
consecutive school days; and in initiating a change in the student’s placement the Respondent
failed to comply with the discipline procedures of the IDEA.

First, on January 19, 2011, the student’s school proposed a long-term emergency suspenswn of
the student, pending a ﬁnal determination regarding the proposed disciplinary action.”* On
February 16, 2011, the District of Columbia Public Schools, Targeted Student Support, Office of
Youth Engagement upheld the school’s determination that the student’s conduct on January 18,
2011 was not a manifestation of the student’s disability, and initiated a one year off-site expulsion
of the student. Removal of a student for more than ten (10) consecutive school days constitutes a
change in the student’s placement.

% Respondent’s Exhibit 1-13.

Sl yg.
62 1d.

& Respondent’s Exhibit 1-10.
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Second, on February 16, 2011, as a consequence of the student’s behavior, the District of
Columbia Public Schools, Targeted Student Support, Office of Youth Engagement placed the
student in an interim alternative educational setting for one (1) year; far exceeding the maximum
45 day period in which a student may be placed in an interim alternative educational setting.

Third, the Respondent ensured that on February 16, 2011, the date the decision was made to make
aremoval of the student, that constitutes a change in the student’s placement, the Petitioner was
properly notified of the decision, and provided the procedural safeguards notice.** However, the
Respondent failed to ensure that once the determination was made to uphold the proposed
long-term suspension and remove the child from school; the child’s IEP team convened to
determine the student’s interim alternative educational setting. Instead, on February 16, 2011, the
District of Columbia Public Schools, Targeted Student Support, Office of Youth Engagement
unilaterally determined that the student’s interim alternative educational setting for the student to
receive services, as

The emergency situation which occurred on January 18, 2011, the date of the incident, no longer
existed, because the school decided that the student was not allowed to return to the school,
pending a final determination regarding the proposed long-term suspension.’® Therefore, the
Respondent had the opportunity to convene the child’s IEP team to determine the interim
placement after the February 16, 2011 decision, however, failed to do so, denying the Petitioner
the opportunity to provide input in all decisions regarding the student’s interim alternative
educational placement.

Finally, the Respondent failed to ensure that once the decision was made to remove the student
from the student’s placement at School, the student continued to receive
educational services at (i.e. a full-time dedicated aide), to enable the child to
continue to participate in the general education curriculum, and to progress toward meeting the
goals in the student’s IEP.

The Respondent also failed to ensure that the student received, as appropriate, a Functional
Behavioral Assessment (FBA) and behavioral intervention services and modifications, designed to
address that behavior violation so that it does not recur; and if a FBA and BIP already exists,
convene a meeting to determine whether additional assessment are appropriate, and modify the
student’s BIP, as necessary, to address the student’s behavior.

2. Failure to Implement Student’s May 5, 2010 IEP

The Petitioner alleged in the April 18, 2011 due process complaint that on May 24, 2010, a
Multidisciplinary Development Team (MDT) determined that a dedicated aide was necessary to
provide the student a FAPE, and address the student’s behavior; and that on May 24, 2010, the
MDT revised the student’s May 5, 2010 IEP, to include a dedicated aide.

The issue in the complaint is whether the Respondent failed to implement the student’s May 5,
2010 IEP, because it failed to ensure that the student received the services prescribed in the
student’s IEP, including a full-time dedicated aide. However, the Petitioner presented no evidence
to substantiate these allegations; or that an IEP was developed for the student on May 5, 2010.

% Respondent’s Exhibits 1-3 and 1-4.
65 Respondent’s Exhibits 1-1, 1-2, and 1-3.
8 Respondent’s Exhibit 1-10.
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The Hearing Officer finds that for this reason, there can be no finding that the District of Columbia
Public Schools denied the student a free appropriate public education by failing to implement a
| May 5, 2010 IEP, because it failed to ensure that as soon as possible following development of the
| IEP, the student received a full-time special education program, outside the general education
setting, 2 hours of behavioral support services weekly, and a dedicated aide, as prescribed in the
student’s May 5, 2010 IEP.%’

3. Failure to Provide the Student an Appropriate Placement (Location of Services)

As indicated supra, in the April 18, 2011 due process complaint, the Petitioner’s Attorney alleges
that on May 24, 2010, a Multidisciplinary Development Team (MDT) determined that a dedicated
aide was necessary to provide the student a FAPE, due to the e student’s behavior; and revised the
student’s May 5, 2010 IEP to include a dedicated aide. The Petitioner presented no evidence
supporting these allegations, or evidence of an IEP dated May 5, 2010, therefore, the Hearing
Officer is unable to decide this issue.

The Hearing Officer finds that allegations that the Respondent failed to provide the student an
appropriate placement during the 2010/11 school years fail for the following reasons:

First, the student’s placement is based on the student’s IEP, and the appropriateness of the
student’s IEP, is not an issue in this complaint or before this Hearing Officer. Therefore, any

IEP presented by the Petitioner is deemed appropriate, unless otherwise determined that the IEP is
inappropriate. The student’s placement is based on the student’s IEP, therefore, the student’s
placement is also deemed appropriate.

Second, the Petitioner presented no evidence that School and

the schools attended by the student during the 2010/11 school year, are inappropriate
placements because the schools are unable to implement the student’s IEP or provide the student
educational benefit.

Third, the Petitioner testified that the student attended and did not
have a dedicated aide. However, failure to receive a dedicated aide, does not equate to an
inappropriate placement.

Fourth, the Petitioner testified that the student and Petitioner toured the
interim alternative educational setting; received information regarding services available at the
school and the school’s educational program; and that the student attended the school for
approximately one week.

The Petitioner testified that she had no knowledge of whether the student received the services at
and during cross-examination testified that the student did not receive a
dedicated aide while attending the school.

%7 This decision does not relieve the Respondent of its obligation under the IDEA to implement the student’s IEP of record, by
ensuring that as soon as possible following development of the IEP, the student received the special education and related
services prescribed in the student’s IEP.
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The Petitioner also testified that she had no knowledge of the student’s experience at

and that she transferred the student to the non-public school because she opined that
“the school was not good for the student because the student knows too many students at the
school”. The Petitioner did not testify that the student was removed from and placed in
the non-public school because the school was unable to implement the student’s IEP or provide
the student educational benefit.

Finally, on or about December 29, 2010, without any notice to the Respondent that the parent had
concerns regarding the student’s placement, the Petitioner’s Attorney forwarded an email to the
Principal at representing that the school was unable to meet the student’s
educational needs because the student had a full-time IEP at his previous school and the student’s
disabilities indicate that the student requires a higher degree of intensity and structure than can be
provided in a program that serves a general population of students.®®

Instead of requesting a meeting with the Respondent to discuss and determine the educational
needs of the student; implementation of the student’s February 15, 2011 IEP at the
School (i.e. provision of a full-time dedicated aide); or placement of the student at an alternative
District of Columbia Public School, the Petitioner’s Attorney forwarding a series of emails to the
school’s Principal requesting a meeting to discuss alternative settings such as

or the like, which are non-public and private schools.”’

The Hearing Officer finds that for these reasons, there can be no finding that the District of
Columbia Public Schools failed to provide the student an appropriate placement during the
2010/11 school year, because the location of services identified in the student’s May 5, 2010 IEP,
is unable to provide the student the full-time special education program, outside general education,
which he require(s) to access the general education curriculum; and receive educational benefit.

4. Failure to Respond to Parent’s Requests for Change in Placement in Timely Manner

The record reflects that on December 29, 2010 and February 16, 2011, the Petitioner’s Attorney
forwarded an email to the Principal at -requesting a meeting to
discuss placement options and an alternate placement for the student. The Respondent failed to
respond to Petitioner’s requests.

First, the requests were sent via email to the Principal of The methodology
utilized by the Petitioner’s Attorney in communicating with the student’s school regarding the
needs of the student; and request a meeting to discuss placement, is not the usual and customary
method utilized in requesting services for students, particularly when the emails were not preceded
by a formal letter of representation, and request for a meeting.

Second, there is no evidence that the Petitioner utilized other methods to communicate with the
school regarding the student’s needs (i.e. an official letter of representation, telephone calls
facsimile); or provided follow-up with the school to verify receipt of the emails by the Principal or
to determine whether the Principal, the individual to whom the emails were addressed, is the
appropriate party to receive and respond to the request for a meeting to discuss the student’s
placement.

%8 petitioner’s Exhibit 29-1.
 14.

14






Third, the December 29, 2010 and February 16, 2011 emails were forwarded to the school
Principal and not the Special Education Coordinator (SEC), the individual responsible for special
education services for students attending the school. The Petitioner presented no evidence of
communications with the SEC at the student’s school.

Fourth, although alleged by the Petitioner, there is no evidence that on March 11, 2011, the
Petitioner forwarded an email to the Principal at the student’s school, to request a meeting to
discuss the student’s placement.

Finally, the Hearing Officer finds that the Petitioner’s Attorney failed to exercise due diligence in
requesting a meeting to discuss the needs of the student; and the student’s placement.

For these reasons, there can be no finding that the District of Columbia Public Schools denied the
student a free appropriate public education (FAPE), by failing to respond to parent’s December 29,
2010, February 16, 2011, or a March 11, 2011 requests for a change in the student’s placement, by
failing to issue to Petitioner a Prior Written Notice within a reasonable time before the public

- agency’s decision, or that the District of Columbia Public Schools refused parent’s request to
initiate a change in the student’s educational placement.

IX. CONCLUSIONS OF LAW

Based upon the above Fiﬁdings of Fact, the arguments of counsel, as well as this Hearing Officer’s
own legal research, the Conclusions of Law of this Hearing Officer are as follows:

1. The burden of proof is properly placed on the Petitioner, the party seeking relief in this matter.”’
Petitioner must prove the allegations in the due process complaint, by a preponderance of the
evidence.”!

2. The Individuals with Disabilities Education Act (IDEA”)"* is the federal statute governing the
education of students with disabilities.”” The IDEA requires that all children with disabilities have
available to them a free appropriate public education (“FAPE”), that emphasizes special education
and related services, specifically designed to meet their unique needs; and prepare them for further
education, employment, and independent living. See, 20 U.S.C. §1400(d) (I) (4).

3. The IDEA defines a FAPE as special education and related services provided at public expense,
under public supervision and direction, and without charge; meet the school standards of the State
educational agency; includes an appropriate preschool, elementary school, or secondary school
education in the State involved. The IDEA also provides that the special education and related
services must be provided in conformity with an Individualized Education Program (IEP) that
meets the requirements of §§300.321 through 300.324.

7 Shaffer v. Weast, 546 U.S. 49, 56-057 (2005) and 5 D.C.M.R. §3030.3.
7120 U.S.C. §14115(i)(2)(c). See also Reid v. District of Columbia, 401 F.3d 516, 521 (D.C. Cir.2005) (standard of review)
"2 The IDEA is reauthorized as the Individuals with Disabilities Education Improvement Act of 2004 (IDEIA)
Public Law 108-446 and 20 U.S.C. §1400 et seq..
7 The Federal regulations promulgated under the IDEA, are codified at 34 C.F.R. Part 300.
™ IDEA, 34 C.F.R. §300.17(d).
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In the District of Columbia, the local education agency (LEA) must ensure that all children with
disabilities, between the ages of 3 and 21, have available to them a free appropriate public
‘education (FAPE); that emphasizes special education and related services designed to meet their
unique needs and prepare them for further education, employment, and independent living.

This student is a child with disabilities entitled to receive special education services, under the
IDEA; and District of Columbia Municipal Regulations.

4. In this matter, the Hearing Officer must determine whether the State complied with the procedural
requirements of the IDEA, in rendering the manifestation determination, initiating a change in the
student’s placement, implementing the student’s IEP, and providing the student an appropriate
placement during the 2010/11 school year. However, the 2004 amendments to IDEA, at Section
615(f) (ii) specifically limit the jurisdiction of administrative hearing officers to make findings that
a child failed to receive a FAPE due to procedural violations, unless it can be determined that the
procedural violations:

) impeded the child’s right to a free and appropriate public education;

(II)  significantly impeded the parent’s opportunity to participate in the decision making
process regarding the provisions of a FAPE to the parent’s child; or

(III)  caused a deprivation of educational benefit to the student.

5. Compliance with Discipline Procedures in Suspending Student

Manifestation Determination

Within ten (10) school days of any decision to change the placement of a child with a disability
because of a violation of a code of student conduct, the LEA, the parent and relevant members of
the child’s IEP team (as determined by the parent and the LEA) must review all relevant
information in the student’s file, including the child’s IEP, any teacher observations, and any
relevant information provided by the parents to determine—

(1) If the conduct in question was caused by, or had a direct and substantial
relationship to, the child’s disability; or

(ii) If the conduct in question was the direct result of the LEA’s failure to
implement the student’s IEP.”

The conduct must be determined to be a manifestation of the child’s disability if the LEA, the
parent, and relevant team members of the child’s IEP team determine that a condition in either
paragraph (e) (1) (i) or (1) (ii) of this section was met.” If the LEA, the parent, and relevant
members of the child’s IEP team determine the condition described in paragraph (e7) (1) (i) of this
section was met, the LEA must take immediate steps to remedy those deficiencies.”’

In this matter, the Respondent failed to properly apply the criteria established by the IDEA in
determining whether the student’s behavior was a manifestation of the student’s disability, by
failing to properly convene the child’s IEP team; failing to review all relevant information in the
student’s file, including the child’s IEP, teacher observations, and any relevant information in
determining whether the student’s behavior was a manifestation of the student’s disability.

" IDEA, 34 C.F.R. §530(¢).
7S IDEA, 34 C.F.R. §300.530 (e)(2).
"7 IDEA, 34 C.F.R. §300.530((e) (3).
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The evidence of record clearly supports a finding that both criteria apply in this instance, and the
Respondent erred in its determination that the student’s conduct was not caused by, or had a direct
and substantial relationship to, the child’s disability; or that the student’s conduct was not the
direct result of the LEA’s failure to implement the student’s March 10, 2010 and February 15,
2011 IEPs. Instead, the Respondent proposed a long-term suspension, and ultimately expelled the
student from school for an entire year.

It is the Hearing Officer’s decision that the Petitioner satisfied its burden by proving that on
February 16, 2011, the District of Columbia Public Schools failed to comply with the disciplinary
procedures of the IDEA, in determining whether the student’s conduct was a manifestation of the
student’s disability, in violation of the IDEA, at §300.530 (¢) (d) and (e).

Change in Placement

Generally, school personnel may remove a child with a disability who violates a code of student
conduct from his or her current placement to an appropriate interim alternative educational setting,
another setting, or suspension, for not more than 10 consecutive school days (to the extent those
alternatives are applied to children without disabilities ), and for additional removals of not more
than 10 consecutive school days in that same school year for separate incidents of misconduct (as
long as those removals do not constitute a change of placement under §300.536).”

In special circumstances, school personnel may remove a student to an interim alternative
educational setting for a maximum of 45 school days without regard to whether the behavior is
determined to be a manifestation of the child’s disability, if it is determined that the child—

(1) Carries a weapon to or possesses a weapon at school, on school premises, or to or at a school
' function under the jurisdiction of an SEA or an LEA,;

(2) Knowingly possesses or uses illegal drugs, or sells or solicits the sale of a controlled
substance, while at school, on school premises, or at a school function under the jurisdiction of
an SEA or an LEA; or

(3) Has inflicted serious bodily injury upon another person while at school, on school premises, or
at a school function under the jurisdiction of an SEA or an LEA.”®

On February 16, 2011, the Respondent determined that this student was responsible for the
January 18, 2011 incident involving lighting of firecrackers in the school hallway; the firecrackers
were weapons that the student carried to and possessed at school, on school premises; the
student’s conduct was not a manifestation of the student’s disability; and that the student would be
removed from the student’s school and placed in an interim alternative educational setting for one
(1) year, far exceeding the maximum 45 day period in which a student may be placed in an interim
alternative educational setting.

According to the IDEA, whether the behavior is determined to be a manifestation of the child’s
disability or not, the LEA must ensure that the student—

@) Continue to receive educational services, so as to enable the child to continue to
participate in the general education curriculum, although in another setting, and to
progress toward meeting the goals set out in the child’s IEP;

" IDEA, 34 C.F.R. §300.530(b).
™ IDEA, 34 C.F.R. §300.530(g).
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(i)  Receives, as appropriate, a functional behavioral assessment and behavioral intervention
services and modifications that are designed to address the behavior violation so that it
does not recur.®

In this matter, the Respondent failed to ensure that the student continued to receive the special
education services prescribed in the student’s IEP (i.e. a dedicated aide) during the period of the
expulsion; and that the student received a FBA and BIP, and/or the student was reevaluated or the
student’s BIP reviewed to determine whether modifications are necessary to address the behavior
resulting in the violation to ensure that the behavior does not recur.

The IDEA also provides that the child’s IEP team must determine the interim alternative
educational setting for the child’s services, under §300.530(c), (d) (5), and (g). The Respondent
failed to convene the child’s IEP, and on February 16, 2011, unilaterally determined the student’s
interim alternative setting.®!

It is the Hearing Officer’s decision that the Petitioner satisfied its burden by proving that on
February 16, 2011, the Respondent failed to comply with the disciplinary procedures of the IDEA,
in initiating a change in the student’s placement; in violation of the IDEA, at 34 C.F.R. §300.530,
300.536, and 20 U.S.C. §1415 (k)(5).

6. Failure to Implement Student’s May 5, 2010 IEP

It is the Hearing Officer’s decision that the Petitioner failed to satisfy its burden by proving that
the District of Columbia Public Schools denied the student a free appropriate public education by
failing to implement the student May 5, 2010 IEP, because it failed to ensure that as soon as
possible following development of the IEP, the student received a full-time special education
program, outside the general education setting, 2 hours of behavioral support services, weekly; and
a dedicated aide, as prescribed in the student’s IEP; in violation of the IDEA, at 34 C.F.R.
§§300.301 and 300.323(c)(2).

7. Failure to Provide the Student an Appropriate Placement (Location of Services)

It is the Hearing Officer’s decision that the Petitioner failed to satisfy its burden by proving that
the District of Columbia Public Schools denied the student a free appropriate public education by
failing to provide the student an appropriate placement during the 2010/11 school year, in
violation of the IDEA, at 34 C.F.R. §300.114(a)(2)(ii) and 300.116.

8. Failure to Respond to Parent’s Requests for Change in Placement in Timely Manner

It is the Hearing Officer’s decision that the Petitioner failed to satisfy its burden by proving that
the District of Columbia Public Schools denied the student a free appropriate public education
(FAPE); by failing to respond to parent’s December 19, 2010, February 10, 2011, and March 11,
2011 requests for a change in the student’s placement, by issuing a Prior Written Notice within a
reasonable time before the public agency’s decision, refusing parent’s request to initiate a change
in the student’s educational placement, in violation of the IDEA, at 34 C.F.R. §300.503(a) (2).

%9 IDEA, 34 C.F.R. §300.530(d)(1).
3! IDEA, at 34 C.F.R. §300.531.
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X. Free Appropriate Public Education

It is the Hearing Officer’s decision that in rendering the manifestation determination and initiating
a change in the student’s educational placement, the Petitioner proved that the Respondent failed to
comply with the procedural requirements of the IDEA. However, the Petitioner failed to prove that the
student was denied a FAPE because the procedural violations:

@ impeded the child’s right to a free and appropriate public education;

(I)  significantly impeded the parent’s opportunity to participate in the decision making
process regarding the provisions of a FAPE to the parent’s child; and

(II)  caused a deprivation of educational benefit to the student.

The record reflects that on February 16, 2011, the Respondent upheld the school’s decision that
the student’s conduct was not a manifestation of the student’s disability; upheld the proposed long-term
suspension of the student from school; and placed the student at an interim
alternative educational setting, for one (1) year.

The student attended -the interim alternative educational setting, for
approximately one (1) week.®* There is no allegation by the Petitioner or evidence that while attending
the student failed to receive the specialized instruction and related services prescribed
in the student’s February 15, 2011 IEP, except that it is undisputed that while attending the interim
placement, the student failed to receive a dedicated aide, as prescribed in the student’s IEP.

On March 3, 2011, approximately ten (10) school days after the February 16, 2011 decision to

change the student’s placement, and place the student at the student was accepted at
The D.C., a non-public school. In March, 2011, the Petitioner
unilaterally removed the student from ~, and enrolled the student at The

which the student currently attends. Since the student’s enrollment at The
the student receives specialized instruction and related services.®
The student has not suffered any loss in educational services, except the support of a dedicated aide
during the one (1) week the student attended the interim alternative educational setting.84

82 Testimony of parent.
% Testimony of parent, student, and Admissions Director, at the

8 The April 18, 2011 due process complaint alleges that the Respondent failed to implement an IEP for the child, without
referencing the date of the IEP. During the prehearing conference the Hearing Officer inquired of Petitioner’s Attorney the date
of the IEP which the Petitioner alleges was not implemented. The Petitioner’s Attorney informed the Hearing Officer that the
Respondent failed to implement the student’s May 5, 2010 IEP, by failing to provide the student a dedicated aide. On May 6,
2011, the Hearing Officer issued a prehearing order citing the issue as failure to implement the student’s May 5, 2010 IEP;
however, the Petitioner presented no evidence that the student has an IEP dated May 5, 2010. As a result, the Petitioner was
unable to satisfy its burden of proof on this issue. The May 6, 2011 prehearing order, page 6, provides that the parties will be
held to the matters agreed upon, ordered, or otherwise set forth in the prehearing order, and that if either party believes this
Hearing Officer in this Order has overlooked or misstated any item, he/she is directed to advise this Hearing Officer of the
same within three (3) business days of the date of this Order (with a copy to opposing counsel), and the concerns will be
immediately addressed. Neither Attorney raised any matters of concern regarding the information included in the prehearing
order, within three (3) business days of the order. Additionally, as part of the Hearing Officer’s opening, the Hearing Officer
referred the Attorneys to the prehearing order, and read into the record the issues as identified in the prehearing order. The
Petitioner’s Attorney did not inform the Hearing Officer that the Hearing Officer overlooked or misstated any item in the
prehearing order; however, the Petitioner’s Attorney requested that the Hearing Officer change the dates in Issue 4 of the
prehearing order, which the Attorney provided the Hearing Officer during the prehearing conference, to reflect different dates.
The Respondent offered no objections to the changes, and the dates in Issue 4 of the prehearing order were changed to
accurately reflect the dates of the emails.®*
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For these reasons, it is the decision of the Hearing Officer that the student was not denied a FAPE,
and is not entitled to compensatory education services for violations occurring during the 2010/11 school
year.

XI. Tuition Reimbursement

The LEA is not required to pay for the cost of education, including special education and related
services, of a child with a disability at a private school or facility if the LEA made FAPE available to the
child and the parents elected to place the child in a private school or facility. However, the public agency
must include that child in the population whose needs are addressed.

If the parents of a child with a disability, who previously received special education and related
services under the authority of a public agency, enroll the child in a private school without the consent of
or referral by the public agency, a court of a hearing officer may require the agency to reimburse the
parents for the cost of that enrollment if the court or hearing officer finds that the agency had not made
FAPE available to the child in a timely manner prior to that enrollment and that the private placement is
appropriate.

In this matter, the Petitioner failed to ensure that at the most recent IEP team meeting that the
parents attended prior to removal of the child from the public school, the parents informed the IEP team
that the Petitioner was rejecting the placement proposed by the public agency to provide FAPE to their
child, and stated their concerns and intent to enroll the child in a private school at public expense; or that
at least ten (10) business days (including any holidays that occur on a business day) prior to the removal
of the child from the public school, the parents provided the Respondent written notice as indicated
herein.

The cost of reimbursement may be reduced or denied if, among others, at least ten (10) business
days (including any holidays that occur on a business day) prior to the removal of the child form the
public school, the parents did not give written notice to the public agency of the information described in
paragraph (d)(1)(i) of this section.

There is no evidence that special education, behavioral support, and speech language services
were not made available to the student at the interim alternative educational setting,
except that the Hearing Officer determined that the student failed to receive a dedicated aide during the
one (1) week the student attended

The Petitioner’s decision to remove the student from the interim alternative setting to the private
school after the student attended the school for merely one (1) week, was not because the school was
unable to implement the student’s IEP, or provide the student educational benefit, however, according to
the parent, the student was removed from the school because the parent opined that the school was not a
good school for the student because the student knew too many students at the school.

The Petitioner failed to provide the Respondent the opportunity to address any concerns regarding
the student’s interim alternative placement; or advance notice of its intent to remove the student from the
interim alternative placement; and place the student in a private school. The Petitioner also failed to
consider other District of Columbia schools as alternative placements for the student, prior to securing the
student’s private school placement.
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It is the decision of the Hearing Officer that there can be no finding that the Respondent denied the
student a FAPE. The Petitioner unilaterally placed the student in a non-public school, without the consent
of or referral by the public agency; and without complying with the procedural requirements of the IDEA;
and for these reasons, the Petitioner is not entitled to tuition reimbursement for the non-public school
placement.

XIIL. ORDER

Based upon the above Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law, it is hereby ORDERED that the
relief requested by the Petitioner in the April 18, 2011 due process complaint, is DENIED.

XIII. NOTICE OF RIGHT TO APPEAL

This is the final administrative decision in this matter. Any party aggrieved by this Hearing
Officer Determination may bring a civil action in any state court of competent jurisdiction or in a District
Court of the United States without regard to the amount in controversy within ninety (90) days from the
date of the Hearing Officer Determination in accordance with 20 USC §1415(i).

Date: . fwne 2 2077 Ramona %%ﬁ/m

Ramona M. Justice, Hearing Officer
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DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA
OFFICE OF THE STATE SUPERINTENDENT OF EDUCATION

Student Hearing Office
810 First Street N.E.
Washington, DC 20002
Parents, on behalf of ) 2
STUDENT,! ) Case Number:
) :
Petitioners, ) Hearing Date: June 8, 2011 3
) Hearing Room 2009 "
V. )
) 0
THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA ) "
PUBLIC SCHOOLS, ) Hearing Officer: Frances Raskin e
)
Respondent. )

HEARING OFFICER DETERMINATION

L JURISDICTION

This proceeding was invoked in accordance with the Individuals With Disabilities
Education Improvement Act of 2004 (“IDEA”), codified at 20 U.S.C. §§ 1400 et seq., D.C. Code
§§ 38-2561.01 et seq.; the federal regulations at 34 C.F.R. §§ 300.1 et seq.; and the District of
Columbia regulations at D.C. Mun. Reg. tit. 5-E §§ 3000 ef seq.

II. BACKGROUND

Petitioners are the parents of a  -year-old student (“Student”) who attends a public
elementary school in Prince Georges County, Maryland. Both Petitioners reside in the District of
Columbia.

On April 18, 2011, Petitioners filed a Due Process Compliant (“Complaint”) against the
District of Columbia Public Schools (“DCPS”) pursuant to IDEA. Petitioners allege that DCPS
denied the Student a free, appropriate, public education (“FAPE”) by developing an
individualized educational program (“IEP”) on January 25, 2011, that fails to provide him 27.5
hours per week of specialized instruction outside the general education setting. Petitioners also
allege that DCPS denied the Student a FAPE by failing to provide him an appropriate
educational placement, i.e., a small therapeutic setting with a low student-teacher ratio.

! Personal identification information is provided in Attachment A.
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This Hearing Officer was appointed to preside over this case on April 19, 2011.
Respondent DCPS filed a response to the Complaint on April 27, 2011. On May 5, 2011, DCPS
waived the resolution session meeting. Thus, the forty-five day, due process hearing timeline
began on May 6, 2011, '

On May 12,2011, this Hearing Officer held a prehearing conference in which Nicholas
Ostrem, counsel for Petitioners, and Laura George, counsel for Respondent DCPS, participated.
This Hearing Officer issued a prehearing order on May 18, 2011,

On May 16, 2011, Respondent DCPS filed a Motion to Dismiss the Complaint
(“Motion”). In its Motion, DCPS argued that DCPS is not “responsible for developing and
implementing IEPs for students who are not enrolled in DCPS.”

On May 19, 2011, Petitioners filed an Opposition to the Motion to Dismiss
(“Opposition”). In their Opposition, Petitioners asserted that, because the Student is a ward of
the District of Columbia, DCPS has an obligation to provide a FAPE to him.

On June 1, 2011, this Hearing Officer issued an order denying the Motion to Dismiss.
Viewing the facts in the light most favorable to Petitioners, this Hearing Officer reasoned that
because it was uncontested that Petitioners reside in the District of Columbia and retain
educational decision-making rights, DCPS is the Student’s “home school” Local Education
Agency (“LEA”) and responsible for providing the Student a FAPE.

On June 6, 2011, this Hearing Officer held a prehearing conference to discuss the
Student’s status and the events that led up to his attending a school in Maryland. During the
prehearing conference, counsel for Petitioner informed this Hearing Officer that the Superior
Court of the District of Columbia had removed the Student from the custody of Petitioners and
placed him with a foster parent in Maryland. This Hearing Officer then asked counsel for
Petitioners to provide her a copy of the court order removing the Student from the custody of
Petitioners as well as any orders or documents from the Child and Family Services Agency
(“CFSA”) regarding the Student’s enrollment in a Prince George’s County public school.

The parties exchanged and filed witness lists and five-day disclosures on June 1, 2011.
Petitioners disclosed three documents. DCPS did not disclose any documents.

On June 7, 2011, Petitioners filed a motion secking leave to introduce two documents that
they had not disclosed with their five-day disclosures. At the outset of the due process hearing
on June 8, 2011, this Hearing Officer granted the motion in part and denied it in part.?

2 This Hearing Officer denied Petitioners’ request to admit into evidence their proposed Exhibit
4. Petitioners failed to show any justification for the untimely disclosure of this document,
which was an April 25, 2011, letter sent to the Student’s mother (“Petitioner A”), which was
mailed to her at least one month before the five-day disclosure deadline. This Hearing Officer
granted Petitioners’ request as to Exhibit 5, which was an August 27, 2010, order of the Family
Division of the Superior Court of the District of Columbia. Petitioners had obtained a copy of
this order at the request of this Hearing Officer.






The due process hearing commenced on June 8, 2011. This Hearing Officer admitted
into evidence Petitioners’ exhibits 1,2, and 3, and Petitioner’s Supplemental Exhibit 5. At this
Hearing Officer’s request, Petitioners also produced a CFSA report and three evaluations of the
Student, which this Hearing Officer marked and admitted into evidence as Petitioners’ Exhibits
6,7,8,and 9, resp_ectively.3

At the due process hearing, Petitioners presented the testimony of five witnesses. DCPS
presented the testimony of two witnesses. After the parties presented oral closing arguments, the
due process hearing concluded on June 8, 2011.

III.  ISSUES PRESENTED.

Based on the claims raised in the Complaint and the discussion of the parties during the
prehearing conferences, this Hearing Officer certified the following issues for adjudication at the
due process hearing:

A. Whether DCPS denied the Student a FAPE by failing to develop an appropriate
individualized educational program (“IEP”) for the Student on January 25, 2011, by failing to
provide him 27.5 hours per week of specialized instruction outside the general education setting;*
and

B. Whether DCPS denied the Student a FAPE by failing to provide the Student an
appropriate educational placement, i.e., a small therapeutic setting with a low student-teacher
ratio. '

Petitioners request relief in the form of an order requiring DCPS to develop an IEP that
provides the Student 27.5 hours per week of specialized instruction outside the general education
setting in a small, therapeutic environment with a low student-teacher ratio, fund the Student’s
enrollment at a non-public school (“Non-Public School”) for the 2011-2012 school year, and
provide the Student compensatory education. As an alternative to an award of compensatory
education, Petitioners request that this Hearing Officer order DCPS to fund an independent
compensatory education evaluation of the Student.

IV.  FINDINGS OF FACT.

L. Petitioners are the parents of the  -year-old child (“Student”) who is the subject
of the Complaint. During the 2009-2010 school year, the Student attended kindergarten at an

* This Hearing Officer requested the CFSA report during the June 6, 2011, prehearing
conference. At the outset of the due process hearing, this Hearing Officer also noted that
Petitioners failed to include all current evaluations of the Student in their five-day disclosures.
See 34 C.F.R. § 300.512 (b) (requiring parties to disclose to all other parties “all evaluations
completed by that date”™).

* Petitioners allege that the Student’s IEP team found that he requires a “full-time, therapeutic
program,” a low student-teacher ratio, and a small therapeutic setting.





independent charter school that serves as its own local education agency.S On August 1, 2010, a
Superior Court of the District of Columbia (“Superior Court”) magistrate judge removed the
Student from Petitioners’ home and committed him to the care of CFSA for a period not to
exceed two years.’

2. On August 12, 2010, the Superior Court held a hearing regarding the status of the
Student’s school enrollment for the 2010-2011 school year.” During the hearing, the parties
agreed that the Student would be enrolled in the neighborhood school near the home of his foster
parent (“Foster Parent”).® The Foster Parent enrolled the Student in a public elementary school
(“Maryland School”) in Prince George’s County, Maryland, and provided this school the
Student’s IEP.” The Student’s CFSA social worker completed CFSA enrollment forms and
tuition contracts.'®

3. The Student began attending the Maryland School on or about August 23, 2010."'
On September 30, 2010, the Maryland School held an IEP meeting to discuss the Student’s
progress.'>  Members of the IEP team expressed concerns about the Student’s behavioral
problems but agreed that he was otherwise adjusting well to his new school."

4. On November 3, 2010, the Maryland School held a meeting to review the
Student’s IEP.'"* No representative of DCPS was present at this meeting.'> The IEP team
developed an IEP for the Student that provided him fifteen hours per week of specialized
instruction in the general education setting, thirty minutes per week of occupational therapy in
the general education setting, and ninety minutes per week of speech-language therapy outside
the general education setting.'®

5. On December 15, 2010, the Maryland School convened another meeting to
discuss the Student’s escalating behavioral difficulties and the threat he posed to himself and
other students.'” No representative of DCPS was present at the meeting.'® The Student’s special

> Petitioners Exhibit 7 at 1, 3 (May 11, 2010, Independent Comprehensive Psychological
Evaluation).
§ Petitioners Exhibit 5 at 3 (August 27, 2010, Order of Magistrate Judge Lori E. Parker, Family
Division, Superior Court of the District of Columbia).
7 Petitioners Exhibit 6 at 1 (August 13, 2010, CFSA Interim Report to the Superior Court of the
District of Columbia).
8 Id. On August 27, 2010, by stipulation of the parties, the Superior Court magistrate judge
formally placed the Student in the home of the Foster Parent, his paternal aunt. Testimony of
Guardian ad Litem; Petitioners Exhibit 5 at 4.
?OTestimony of Foster Parent; Petitioner Exhibit 6 at 1.

Id.
' Testimony of Educational Advocate, Guardian ad Litem.
iz Testimony of Educational Advocate.

Id.
14 Id.; Petitioners Exhibit 1 (November 3, 2010, IEP).
'3 Testimony of Educational Advocate, Guardian ad Litem.
'® Petitioners Exhibit 1 at 25.
' Testimony of Educational Advocate; Guardian ad Litem.






education teacher and the principal of the Maryland school informed the other meeting
participants that they had tried to contact DCPS but were unsuccessful.'®

6. On January 25, 2011, the Maryland School held a meeting to discuss the
Student’s continuing behavioral difficulties.”® No representative of DCPS was present at the
meeting.”' During the meeting, the meeting participants agreed that the Student required a more
supportive environment.”> The meeting participants agreed that the Student required full-time

specialized instruction outside the general education environment and discussed revisions to his
IEP.”

7. At the January 25, 2011, meeting, the meeting participants prepared a draft IEP
for the Student.** The draft IEP provided the Student fifteen hours per week of specialized
instruction in the general education setting, thirty minutes per week of occupational therapy in
the general education setting, and ninety minutes per week of speech-language therapy outside
the general education setting.”> The Maryland School never finalized this IEP.*

8. On April 29, 2011, the Maryland School held a meeting to discuss the status of
the Student’s placement and review his IEP.*’ For the first time, a DCPS representative
(“Compliance Case Manager”) was present at the meeting.”®

9. CFSA never informed DCPS that the Student had been removed from his family
and was attending the Maryland School.”” DCPS learned that the Student was enrolled in the
Maryland School when the Compliance Case Manager was assigned to monitor the Student’s
sibling after a due process complaint was filed for that student.*® Immediately after the April 29,
2011, meeting, the Compliance Case Manager communicated this information to the DCPS
Program Manager for Residential and Surrounding Counties (“Program Manager”).

10.  On May 15, 2011, the Maryland School held a meeting to develop a full-time,
out-of-general-education IEP for the Student and to determine a placement for the 2011-2012
school year?' Several DCPS representatives were present at this meeting.’> The meeting
participants included the Compliance Case Manager as well as several other DCPS personnel

'® Testimony of Educational Advocate, Guardian ad Litem.

' Testimony of Educational Advocate, Foster Parent.

2% Id., Guardian ad Litem.

j; Testimony of Educational Advocate, Guardian ad Litem.
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24 Testimony of Educational Advocate; Petitioner Exhibit 2 (January 25, 2011, Draft IEP).

% Petitioner Exhibit 2 at 25.

%6 Testimony of Educational Advocate.

1d.

28 Testimony of DCPS Compliance Case Manager, Educational Advocate.

% Testimony of Program Manager.

3% Testimony of DCPS Compliance Case Manager.

z; Testimony of Educational Advocate, Guardian ad Litem, Compliance Case Manager.
Id.






including the Program Manager and the principal of the school in the neighborhood (“DCPS
School”) in which the Student’s father lives (“Petitioner B”).**

11. At the May 15, 2011, meeting, the Program Manager expressed opposition to a
full-time, out-of-general-education placement for the Student** The Maryland School
participants then informed the DCPS personnel that, while they could participate in the
discussion, they were not members of the Student’s IEP team and would have no input on the
content of his IEP.*> The Maryland School members, Petitioners, the Foster Parent, the
Educational Advocate, and the Guardian ad Litem all agreed that the Student’s IEP should
provide full-time specialized instruction in a therapeutic setting outside the general education
environment.*® They agreed that the IEP would take effect at the outset of the 2011-2012 school
year.”” The Maryland School did not revise the Student’s IEP at this meeting.*®

12. At the May 15, 2011, meeting, the Program Manager suggested that the Student
enroll in the DCPS Neighborhood School.*” The Program Manager and the principal of the
DCPS School informed the participants in the meeting that the DCPS School could implement
the Student’s January 25, 2011, IEP.** Petitioner A responded that she did not want the Student
to attend any DCPS school.*!

13.  This Hearing Officer finds that Petitioners’ witnesses at the due process hearing
provided credible testimony. Each of Petitioners’ witnesses corroborated the testimony of the
other witnesses at the hearing. The DCPS witnesses also provided credible testimony, which
was uncontroverted by the testimony of Petitioners’ witnesses.

V. CONCLUSIONS OF LAW

IDEA guarantees children with disabilities the right to a free and appropriate public
education with services designed to meet their individual needs.*> FAPE is defined as “specially
designed instruction, at no cost to parents, to meet the unique needs of a child with a disability.”*
FAPE “consists of educational instruction specially designed to meet the unique needs of the
handicapped child, supported by such services as are necessary to permit the child to benefit from
the instruction.”**

3 Testimony of Educational Advocate, Compliance Case Manager, Program Manager.
34 Testimony of Program Manager.

.

3% Testimony of Educational Advocate, Compliance Case Manager, Program Manager.
%7 Testimony of Educational Advocate, Guardian ad Litem.

*Id. As of June 8, 2011, the Maryland School still had not finalized this IEP. Id.

jz Testimony of Program Manager, Compliance Case Manager.

"1

220 U.S.C. §§ 1400(d)(1)(A),1412(a)(1).

#20U.S.C. § 1401(28), 34 C.F.R. § 300.39, D.C. Mun. Reg. tit. 30 § 3001.1.

* Bd. of Education v. Rowley, 458 U.S. 176, 188-89 (1982) (citation omitted).






DCPS is obligated to ?rovide a FAPE “for all children residing in the state between the
ages of 3 and 21, inclusive.”” In deciding whether DCPS provided the Student a FAPE, the
inquiry is limited to (a) whether DCPS complied with the procedures set forth in IDEIA; and (b)
whether }?e Student’s IEP was reasonably calculated to enable the Student to receive educational
benefits. ’

In matters alleging a procedural violation, a hearing officer may find that the child did not
receive FAPE only if the procedural inadequacies impeded the child’s right to FAPE,
significantly impeded the parent’s opportunity to participate in the decision-making process
regarding provision of FAPE, or caused the child a deprivation of educational benefits.*” In
other words, an IDEA claim is viable only if those procedural violations affected the student's
substantive rights.*®

The burden of proof is properly placed upon the party secking relief. Under IDEA,
Petitioner must prove the allegations in the due process complaint by a preponderance of the
evidence.”® Under the preponderance of evidence standard, he party with burden of proof must
prove that the existence of a fact is more probable than its nonexistence.”’ Unlike other
standards of proof, the preponderance standard allows both parties to share the risk of error in
roughly equal fashion,’* except that when the evidence is evenly balanced, the party with the
burden of persuasion must lose.”

VI. DISCUSSION
Petitioners Failed to Prove that DCPS Denied the Student a FAPE.

Although Petitioners framed the issue as whether DCPS failed to develop an appropriate
IEP for the Student, the threshold issue in this case is when DCPS knew or should have known

34 C.F.R. § 300.101.

% Rowley at 206-207.

720 U.S.C. § 1415 (H)(3)(E)(ii).

* Lesesne v. District of Columbia, 447 F.3d 828, 834 (D.C. Cir. 2006) (emphasis in original;
internal citations omitted). Accord, Kruvant v. District of Columbia, 99 Fed. Appx. 232, 233
(D.C. Cir. 2004) (denying relief under IDEA because "although DCPS admits that it failed to
satisfy its responsibility to assess [the student] for IDEA eligibility within 120 days of her
parents' request, the [parents] have not shown that any harm resulted from that error").

¥ Schaffer v. Weast, 546 U.S. 49, 56-57 (2005).

20 U.S.C. § 1415 (i)(2)(c). See also Reidv. District of Columbia, 401 F.3d 516, 521 (D.C. Cir.
2005) (discussing standard of review).

*! Concrete Pipe & Products of California, Inc. v. Construction Laborers Pension Trust for
Southern California, 508 U.S. 602, 622 (1993) (internal quotation marks omitted).

*2 Herman & MacLean v. Huddleston, 459 U.S. 375, 390 (1983) (internal quotation marks
omitted).

> Director, Office of Workers' Compensation Programs v. Greenwich Collieries, 512 U.S. 267,
281 (1994).






that the Student was a child with a disability under IDEA.>* Only after DCPS determines that the
Student has a disability under IDEA would DCPS have an obligation to develop an IEP for him
and determine an appropriate educational placement in his least restrictive environment.”®

As soon as a student is identified as a potential candidate for special education services,
the Local Education Agency (“LEA”) has a duty to identify the student, locate him, and
complete the evaluation process.”® This “child find” obligation extends to students who are
residents of the District of Columbia but attending school in another state.’” A child is a resident
of the state in which (1) the parent or guardian legally resides, or (2) the child is a ward of the
state.”® Residency, not the physical location of the student, creates the duty to ensure that FAPE
is made available to eligible children with disabilities.”® In other words, The obligation to
provide a FAPE, therefore, is triggered by a child's residency in the District, not the child's
enrollment in a public school in the District.®

>* Although this Hearing Officer held two prehearing conferences and discussed both the status
of the Student’s living arrangements, the court proceedings, whether Petitioners had standing to
bring the Complaint, and the Student’s enrollment in the Maryland School, it was not until the
due process hearing that it became clear that Petitioners’ sole claim in this case is whether DCPS
violated its “child find” obligations. The Complaint contained no child find allegation and
counsel for Petitioner never raised this issue in either prehearing conference. Only through the
testimony of the Educational Advocate, the first witnesses who testified at the due process
hearing, did this Hearing Officer learn that DCPS had not been involved in the IEP and
placement process in Maryland until April 2011. Rather, Petitioners had alleged that DCPS was
involved in the entire process, including the development of the Student’s January 25, 2011, IEP,
and had attended each of the meetings convened by the Maryland School. (During the first
prehearing conference, after counsel for DCPS insisted that DCPS had not been invited to these
meetings and did not even know they had occurred, counsel for Petitioner insisted that DCPS had
been present at each meeting.)

% FAPE is defined as “specially designed instruction, at no cost to parents, to meet the unique
needs of a child with a disability.” 20 U.S.C. § 1401(28) (emphasis added); 34 C.F.R. § 300.39
(emphasis added); D.C. Mun. Reg. tit. 30 § 3001.1 (emphasis added). See also Rowley, 458 U.S.
at 188-89.

%8 See District of Columbia v. Abramson, 493 F. Supp. 2d 80, 85 (D.D.C. 2007) (explaining that
once a child is identified the local educational agency is then obligated to move forward with the
evaluation process and then determine whether the student is in fact a child with a disability);
Hawkins v. District of Columbia, 539 F. Supp. 2d 108, 114 (D.D.C. 2008) (same).

>7 Abramson, 493 F. Supp. 2d at 82; Hawkins, 539 F. Supp. 2d at 115.

*$ 34 C.F.R. § 300.101 (a); Letter to Covall, 48 IDELR 106 (OSEP December 22, 2006).
Children whose parents have placed them in a private school or facility even though FAPE was
available are an exception to this rule. Id.; 34 C.F.R. § 300.131.

* Letter to Moody, 23 IDELR 833 (OSEP October 24, 1995). See also Letter to Mills, 213
IDELR 139 (OSEP May 23, 1988) (child's home school district is the district in which his
parents reside and movement of child from one jurisdiction to another does not change his
district of residency or shift the responsibility for providing FAPE from one public agency to
another)

% D.S. v. District of Columbia, 699 F. Supp. 2d 229, 235 (D.D.C. 2010).





Regardless of whether the child is enrolled in a DCPS school, DCPS is required to
“ensure that procedures are implemented to identify, locate, and evaluate all children with
disabilities residing in the District who are in need of special education and related services,
including children with disabilities attending private schools.”®" Accordingly, DCPS has a
fundamental obligation to provide FAPE to [each] child with a disability residing in the District
of Columbia.? Thus, DCPS is responsible “child find” obligation for all students whose parents
reside in the District of Columbia.®®

Once a child has been referred to an IEP team for an eligibility determination, the IEP
team must conduct an “initial evaluation” that “shall consist of procedures to determine whether
a child is a child with a disability . . . and to determine the educational needs of such child.”** In
the District of Columbia, the LEA shall evaluate a child suspected of having a disability within
120 days from the date the student was referred for an evaluation.®

IDEA requires that, as part of the "initial evaluation," an IEP team shall review existing
evaluations and then "identify what additional data, if any" are needed to make a disability
determination.®® On the basis of that review, and input from the child’s parents, the IEP team
must identify what additional data, if any, are needed to determine whether the child is a child
with a disability and the educational needs of the child.’’ '

An LEA’s failure to comply with its child-find obligation may constitute a denial of
FAPE.®® This is not the end of the inquiry, however. The dispositive issue is whether the
student was harmed by the LEA’s failure to comply with its obligations.®” In other words, to
succeed on a procedural claim, parents must demonstrate that the school district's procedural
violations affected their child's ability to receive the educational benefit that the IDEA requires.”
If a disabled child received a FAPE in spite of a technical violation of the IDEA, the LEA has
fulfilled its statutory obligations.”’ .

. 61 Id.
%2 Abramson, 493 F. Supp. 2d at 84 (citation omitted); Hawkins, 539 F. Supp. 2d at 112-115.
5 The U.S. Department of Education, Office of Special Education Programs, has consistently
defined a child's “home school” district as the district in which his parents reside. Letter to
Moody, 23 IDELR 833 (OSEP October 24, 1995).
6420 U.S.C. § 1414 (a)(1)(C)().
% D.C. Code § 38-2561.02
zj 34 C.F.R. § 300.305; Hawkins, 539 F. Supp. 2d at 116.

Id.
58 Hawkins ex rel. D.C. v. District of Columbia, 539 F. Supp. 2d 108, 113-14 (D.D.C. 2008);
District of Columbia v. Abramson, 493 F. Supp. 2d 80, 85 (D.D.C. 2007).
* Kruvant v. District of Columbia, 99 Fed. Appx. 232, 233 (D.C. Cir. 2004) (denying relief
under IDEA because "although DCPS admits that it failed to satisfy its responsibility to assess
[the student] for IDEA eligibility within 120 days of her parents' request, the [parents] have not
shown that any harm resulted from that error").
" Roark v. District of Columbia, 460 F. Supp. 2d 32, 42 (D.D.C. 2006) (citing Lesesne, 447 F.3d
at 834).
"' See, e.g., Hung Hanh Thi Nguyen v. District of Columbia, 681 F. Supp. 2d 49, 51 (D.D.C.
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Here, Petitioners failed to prove that DCPS was on notice that this Student was a child
with a suspected disability under IDEA prior to April 2011. Petitioners failed to prove that either
Petitioner, the Educational Advocate, the Guardian ad Litem, or the CFSA notified DCPS that
the Student had been placed in a school in Maryland. Rather, the evidence shows that the
Student had not attended a DCPS school the previous year as he attended an independent charter
LEA.

Because Petitioners had the burden of proof, they had to show that DCPS knew or should
have know that the Student had a suspected disability. Instead, the evidence at the due process
hearing was that DCPS first learned of this student when Petitioners filed a complaint on behalf
of his sibling in March or April 2011.

Thus, DCPS had 120 days from the date of the filing of the complaint for the Student’s
sibling to evaluate the Student. Even if one were to assume that complaint was filed on March 1,
2011, almost two months prior to the April 29, 2011, meeting at the Maryland School, this
deadline has not yet elapsed.”” Thus, Petitioners cannot prevail upon their child-find claim
because, as a matter of law, DCPS has until the end of the 120 days to determine the Student’s
eligibility for IDEA services.”

Until DCPS conducts evaluations, whether by conducting assessments or reviewing the
Student’s existing evaluations and other data, DCPS cannot determine whether he is a student
with a disability. Thus, Petitioners claim that DCPS failed to develop an appropriate IEP and
provide the Student an appropriate placement is premature.

ORDER

Based upon the Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law herein, it is this 19th day of
June 2011 hereby

ORDERED that the Complaint is DISMISSED WITH PREJUDICE.

By: s/ Frances Rashin

Frances Raskin

2010) (upholding hearing officer who found that, although the student suffered from depression
and a mood disorder, he did not suffer an emotional disturbance because "[t]he record is, at best,
inconclusive that [the student's] emotional problems adversely affect his educational
performance”); M.M. ex rel. D.M. v. Sch. Dist., 303 F.3d 523, 533-34 (4th Cir. 2002).

7 Petitioners failed to establish the date that this complaint was filed, even after the Compliance
Case Manager testified that this was when she first learned that the Student may be a student
with a disability.

7> Nonetheless, DCPS should not ignore its child-find obligation to this Student. It should be
cognizant of this timeline and evaluate the Student and determine his eligibility for specialized
instruction and related services within 120 days of the date the complaint for the Student’s
sibling was filed. '
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Hearing Officer

NOTICE OF APPEAL RIGHTS

The decision issued by the Hearing Officer is final, except that any party aggrieved by the
findings and decision of the Hearing Officer shall have 90 days from the date of the decision of
the hearing officer to file a civil action with respect to the issues presented at the due process
hearing in a district court of the United States or a District of Columbia court of competent
jurisdiction, as provided in 20 U.S.C. § 1415(i)(2).

Distributed to:

Nicholas Ostrem, counsel for Petitioners
Laura George, counsel for Respondent
Hearing Office

dueprocess@dc.gov
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JURISDICTION:

The hearing was conducted and this decision was written pursuant to the ndividuals with
Disabilities Act (“IDEA”), P.L. 101-476, as amended by P.L. 105-17 and the Individuals with
Disabilities Education Improvement Act of 2004, the District of Columbia Code, Title 38 Subtitle
VII, and the District of Columbia Municipal Regulations, Title 5 Chapter E30. The Due Process
Hearing was convened June 17, 2011,2 at the OSSE Student Hearing Office 810 First Street, NE,
Washington, DC 20003, in Hearing Room 2006.

BACKGROUND:

Student or “the student” is age in high school and has been determined eligible as a child
with a disability under IDEA with a disability classification of multiple disabilities (“MD”). The
student attends a private full time special education program, hereinafter referred to as “School
A.” The student’s placement at School A is funded by DCPS.

Prior to attending School A the student attended a DCPS public high school, hereinafter referred
to as “School B.” The student began attending School B soon after the start of the 2010-2011
school year. The student began attending School A on November 29, 2010, pursuant to a
settlement agreement dated November 9, 2011, for a prior due process complaint. The settlement
agreement also provided for DCPS to convene an individualized educational program (“IEP”)
meeting for the student by January 30, 2011, to review and revise the student’s IEP, if necessary,
and to discuss compensatory education.

On January 20, 2001, an IEP meeting was convened at School A. The IEP team reviewed and
revised the student’s IEP. There was no agreement as to compensatory education.

On February 10, 2011, the parent made a request to the principal of School A that psychiatric
.evaluation be conducted of the student. On March 25, 2011, an IEP meeting was convened for
the student at School A to discuss his school behavior and lack of attendance. The parent
renewed her request for the psychiatric evaluation.

On April 22, 2011, Petitioner filed a due process complaint alleging, inter alia, DCPS had failed
to provide the student the requested psychiatric evaluation, failed to provide the student

compensatory education and failed to provide the student consistent transportation services to
and from School A.

On May 5, 2011, a resolution meeting was convened. The parties did not resolve the complaint.
On May 24, 2011,3 this Hearing Officer convened a pre-hearing conference and issued a pre-

20n May 31, 2011, Petitioner’s counsel submitted a motion to continue the hearing and date of final decision. The

Hearing Officer granted the motion and issued an interim ordering continuing the hearing for ten calendar days to
June 17, 2011.

3 The Hearing Officer made attempts to schedule the PHC within a week of the resolution meeting; however, this
date was the first date that was mutually available for both counsel.






hearing order on May 27, 2011, stating the issues to be adjudicated, the relief Petitioner is
seeking and Respondent’s position with regard to the complaint and/or defenses.

Petitioner originally sought as relief: (1) an independent psychiatric evaluation, (2) an IEP
meeting to review the evaluation and determine if the student is in need of a residential
placement, (3) compensatory education and (4) reimbursement to the parent for out of pocket
transportation costs.

A few days prior to the hearing DCPS authorized the parent to obtain an independent psychiatric
evaluation. Thus, at the outset of the hearing Petitioner withdrew the claim for the psychiatric
evaluation. Petitioner sought to obtain compensatory education from the start of 2010-2011
school year until the student began attending School A and for days he allegedly missed because
of the lack of transportation services. Petitioner also sought as reimbursement for public
transportation Petitioner claimed she funded for the student get to and from school when the
transportation fare cards had not yet been provided.

DCPS maintained that the IEP team discussed compensatory education at the January 20, 2011,
meeting and determined the student is due no compensatory education and thus Petitioner is
barred by the settlement agreement from now seeking compensatory education.4 DCPS also
maintained the student has been consistently provided transportation services and no
reimbursement was due.

ISSUES: 5
The issues adjudicated are:
(1): Did DCPS deny the student a FAPE by failing to provide the student compensatory

education for alleged denials of FAPE from the start of the 2010-2011 school year until the
student began attending School A? ¢

4 The pre-hearing order directed both counsel to file a brief on the issue of whether compensatory education for
matters that were the subject of the settlement agreement could be adjudicated. The briefs were to be filed June 8,
2011. Petitioner’s counsel filed a brief. DCPS counsel did not. On June 13, 2011, after the deadline for disclosures
had passed DCPS counsel filed a motion to dismiss asserting compensatory education was barred by the settlement
agreement. The Hearing Officer did allow the motion because it was filed untimely. However, the Hearing Officer
allowed DCPS to assert the settlement agreement as a defense in its case in chief. In addition, on the day of hearing
DCPS made an oral motion based on communication allegedly provided to the parent stating that the student was
not a resident of the District of Columbia. The Hearing Officer disallowed the motion as unfair surprise.

5 The alleged violation(s) and/or issue(s) listed in the complaint may not directly correspond to the issue(s) outlined
here. However, the parties agreed at the hearing that the issue(s) listed here and as stated in the r pre-hearing order
are the issue(s) to be adjudicated. Petitioner alleged in the complaint DCPS denied the student a FAPE by failing to
provide the requested psychiatric evaluation which the parent requested to determine if the student is in need of a
more restrictive educational setting; specifically, a residential setting. However, at the outset of the hearing DCPS
stipulated that it had authorized the parent to obtain an independent psychiatric evaluation and Petitioner’s counsel
thus withdrew this issue.

6 Petitioner alleges the student is due compensatory education for (1) services the student was not provided because
he was not in an appropriate placement from the beginning of the 2010-2011 school year until November 29, 2010,
when he started at School A, which includes missed services from the time the settlement agreement was signed






(2): Did DCPS deny the student a FAPE by not providing the student consistent transportation
services.’

RELEVANT EVIDENCE CONSIDERED:

This Hearing Officer considered the testimony of the witnesses and the documents submitted in
the parties’ disclosures (Petitioner’s Exhibits 1-57 and DCPS Exhibit 1-10) that were admitted
into the record and are listed in Appendix A. Witnesses are listed in Appendix B.8

FINDINGS OF FACT:?

1. The student is age sixteen in high school and has been determined eligible as a child with
a disability under IDEA with a disability classification of multiple disabilities. (“MD”).
The student attends a private full time special education program, School A. The
student’s placement at School A is funded by DCPS. (DCPS Exhibit 5 & 10-1)

2. At the start of the 2010-2011 school year the student’s family became homeless. As
result, the parent, the student and his sibling were living temporarily with friends in the
District of Columbia and later relatives outside the District of Columbia until the parent
could obtain permanent housing in the District of Columbia. At the time of the hearing
the parent was still seeking housing in the District of Columbia. (Parent’s testimony)

3. The student began attending School B in September 2010, sometime after the start of the
2010-2011 school year. During time the student attended School B he exhibited
behavioral difficulties and received disciplinary actions including suspensions. (Ms.
Miskel’s testimony, Petitioner’s Exhibits 39, 40, 41)

until the student began attending School A on November 29,2011, Petitioner submitted a proposed compensatory
education plan requesting 10 hours per week of independent tutoring for one academic year, 80 hours of
independent counseling services and a 5-week summer camp. Petitioner presented no price for the summer camp
and the plan did not differentiate which services were being proposed for which alleged category of missed services.

7 Petitioner alleges the student is due compensatory education for seven school days Petitioner alleges the student
missed because DCPS did not provide transportation services to the student. Petitioner alleges the student was
provided some but not all of the fare cards he was due as the related service of transportation in his IEP and as a
result the parent has incurred the expense of transportation and seeks reimbursement for these costs.

8 The Hearing Officer also reviewed the brief filed by Petitioner on June 8, 2011, and the DCPS’ written motion t
dismiss filed July 13, 2011. '

9 The evidence that is the source of the finding of fact is noted within a parenthesis following the finding. The

second number following the exhibit number denotes the page of the exhibit from which the fact was extracted.
When citing an exhibit that has been submitted by both parties separately the Hearing Officer may only cite one
party’s exhibit,






4. The student began attending School A with DCPS funding on November 29, 2010,
pursuant to a settlement agreement dated November 9, 2011, for a prior due process
complaint. (Petitioner’s Exhibit 14; DCPS Exhibit 10)

5. On November 17, 2011, DCPS issued prior notice of placement (“PNOP”) placmg the
student at School A. (Petltloner s Exhibit 14)

6. The settlement agreement was signed by the parent on November 9, 2010, and signed by
the DCPS representative on November 10, 2010. The language of paragraph 4 of the
agreement reads as follows:

“The parties agree to the following:

For the 2010-2011 School Year, DCPS will fund and place the student, with
transportation, at [School A].

By January 30, 2011, DCPS will convene an IEP meeting to review and revise the
student’s IEP, if necessary; and to discuss compensatory education.” 10 (DCPS
Exhibit 10-2, 10-3)

7. The student began attending School A on November 29, 2011, although the settlement
agreement was signed by DPCS on November 10, 2011, and the PNOP was dated
November 17, 2010. There were nine school days from the date the settlement agreement
was signed and the student began attending school. During this time the student was not
in school at all. (Parent’s testimony, DCPS Exhibit 10)

8. The parent conferred with the staff at School A and agreed that it made sense for the
student to begin attending School A after the Thanksgiving break, thus the student began
attending November 29, 2010. (Parent’s testimony)

9. On January 20, 2001, an IEP meeting was convened at School A. The IEP team
reviewed and revised the student’s IEP. The team raised the issue of compensatory
education. The DCPS staff at the meeting stated the student was not due any
compensatory education. The parent’s advocate attended the meeting and expressed her
opinion the student was due compensatory education from the start of the 2010-2011
school year until he arrived at School A. There was no agreement as to compensatory
education by the team and no compensatory education was granted. (Ms. Miskel’s
testimony, DCPS Exhibit 4-3)

10. When the student first began attending School A he used public transportation to get to
school or the parent drove him. In early January 2011 the School A provided the student
a Metro fare card to be used for school. Because the student was not regularly
attending school using the Metro, on January 25, 2011, the parent requested the student

10 The settlement agreement also contained a provision (paragraph 10) that states: “The Settlement
Agreement is in full satisfaction and settlement of all claims contained in the pending Complaint, including
those claims under IDEA and § 504 the Parent now asserts or could have asserted within the statute of
limitations as of the date of the signed Settlement Agreement.






be provided bus transportation. The student was provided bus transportation from
January 25, 2011, until April 4, 2011, when the parent requested that the school resume
giving the student Metro fare cards. On April 5, 2011, the student was provided a

fare card. The student was frequently absent from school and even after being provided
the bus transportation and fare cards he did no consistently attend school. The student
told School A’s principal he often used the fare cards to attend a non-school related band
practice. As a result, the student’s fare cards ran out and he did not have fare to get to
school. The student was provided enough money in fare cards to more than cover the
cost of his transportation to school for the days he attended. The student did not miss any
school days because he was not provided transportation services. During the student’s
time at School A he did not seem motivated to engage in his educational program. May
19, 2011, is the last day the student attended school prior to the hearing.

testimony)

11. From November 29, 2010, to January 15, 2011, the parent incurred the costs of providing
the student Metro fare cards to enable the student to attend School A. The parent
incurred a total cost of to provide the student fare cards during this period.
(Parent’s testimony, Attachment to Petitioner’s Brief and Request for Reimbursement
filed June 8, 2011.) :

12. The student has not attended school since May 19, 2011, due illness and a lack of
motivation and because School A staff informed the student that because of his lack of
progress and poor attendance he would likely fail for the school year. (Parent’s

~ testimony)

CONCLUSIONS OF LAW:

Pursuant to IDEIA §1415 (£)(3)(E)(i) a decision made by a hearing officer shall be made on
substantive grounds based on a determination of whether the child received a free appropriate
public education (“FAPE”).

Pursuant to IDEIA §1415 (£)(3)(E)(ii) in matters alleging a procedural violation a hearing officer
may find that a child did not receive FAPE only if the procedural inadequacies impeded the
child’s right to FAPE, significantly impeded the parent’s opportunity to participate in the
decision making process regarding provision of FAPE, or caused the child a deprivation of
educational benefits.

Pursuant to SE DCMR 3030.14 the burden of proof is the responsibility of the party seeking
relief. 11 Schaffer v. Weast, 546 U.S. 49, 126 S.Ct. 528 (2005). In this case the
student/parent is seeking relief and has the burden of proof that the action and/or inaction or
proposed placement is inadequate or adequate to provide the student with FAPE.

11 The burden of proof shall be the responsibility of the party seeking relief. Based solely upon the
evidence presented at the hearing, an impartial hearing officer shall determine whether the party seeking
relief presented sufficient evidence to meet the burden of proof.






ISSUE : (1): Did DCPS deny the student a FAPE by failing to provide the student compensatory
education for alleged denials of FAPE from the start of the 2010-2011 school year until the
student began attending School A?

Conclusion: The evidence does not support a finding that the student is entitled to
compensatory education. Petitioner did not sustain the burden of proof by a preponderance of
the evidence.

Under the theory of compensatory education, "courts and hearing officers may award educational
services ... to be provided prospectively to compensate for a past deficient program." "the inquiry
must be fact-specific and, to accomplish IDEA's purposes, the ultimate award must be
reasonably calculated to provide the educational benefits that likely would have accrued from
special education services the school district should have supplied in the first place." Reid, 401
F.3d 522 & 524. To aid the court or hearing officer's fact-specific inquiry, "the parties must
have some opportunity to present evidence regarding [the student's] specific educational deficits
resulting from his loss of FAPE and the specific compensatory measures needed to best correct
those deficits." Id. at 526.

Petitioner entered into a settlement agreement on November 9, 2010, settling a prior due process
complaint. DCPS agreed under this settlement to place and fund the student at a private full-time
special education program, provide transportation, convene an IEP to review and revise the
student’s IEP if necessary; and discuss compensatory education. As to compensatory education
the terms of the agreement did not state that the student was entitled to compensatory education
or that DCPS agreed to provide the student compensatory education. The terms simply state that
at the IEP meeting compensatory education would be discussed.

Petitioner alleges that at the meeting DCPS did not engage in a discussion but simply stated the
student was due no compensatory education. Although Ms. Miskel testified that in her opinion
there was no discussion of compensatory education, the Hearing Officer was not convinced of
this by her testimony. Compensatory education was an item clearly brought forth in the meeting
and Ms. Miskel made a request for compensatory education. The meeting notes reflect that
compensatory education was addressed. The DCPS members of the team did not agree
compensatory education was warranted. The Hearing Officer concludes this evidence
demonstrates there was a discussion at the meeting of compensatory education as the settlement
agreement required. 12

The settlement agreement terms regarding compensatory education may have been due to
inartful drafting. However, the Hearing Officer is not going to attempt to redraft the agreement.
The Hearing Officer concludes based on the language of the meeting notes that compensatory
education was discussed and the provision of the agreement were satisfied. Consequently, the
Hearing Officer concludes that the compensatory education the student might have been due for
any violations alleged in the complaint that was the subject of the settlement agreement will not
be granted.

12 Although Petitioner’s counsel in her brief cited case law to support her assertion that compensatory education for
periods prior to the settlement agreement could be reviewed, the Hearing Officer did not conclude there was any
basis for such a review in this instance because the language of the agreement was clear and had been satisfied.






Pursuant to contract law “where the language in question is unambiguous, its interpretation is a
- question of law for the court. A court must honor the intentions of the parties as reflected in the
settled usage of the terms they accepted in the contract...and will no torture words to import
ambiguity where the ordinary meaning leaves on room for ambiguity. Independence
Manufacturing Co Inc. v. Anderson and Summers LLC, 874 A.2d 862, 867 (D.C. 2005).

It is clear from the evidence that the IEP team discussed whether or not compensatory education
was warranted and that is all that was required by the settlement agreement. This is not a case of
breach of a settlement agreement, but apparently Petitioner’s dissatisfaction with the results of
the terms of the settlement agreement after the fact.

After the settlement agreement was ratified on November 10, 2010, DCPS issued PNOP for the
student to attend School A on November 17, 2011. It was agreed by the parent in conferring
with the school staff that it was better for the student to begin the new school after the
Thanksgiving holiday. Thus, the student began school on November 29, 2010. Although it
might be significant that the student was not in school right away, Petitioner did not present
specific evidence of what the student missed during this time and any specific harm to the
student.

The student had attendance problems even after he began attending School A. These factors
combined, lead the Hearing Officer to conclude the student suffered no harm for any perceived
delay in starting school and thus was not denied a FAPE and is due no compensatory education
in this regard. 13

ISSUE : (2): Did DCPS deny the student a FAPE by not providing the student consistent
transportation services?

Conclusion: The evidence supports a finding that the parent is entitled to reimbursement for
transportation costs.

34 C.FR. § 300.17 provides:
A free appropriate public education or FAPE means special education and related
services [emphasis added] that-- (a) Are provided at public expense, under public
supervision and direction, and without charge; (b) Meet the standards of the SEA,
including the requirements of this part; (c) Include an appropriate preschool, elementary
school, or secondary school education in the State involved; and (d) Are provided in
conformity with an individualized education program (IEP) that meets the requirements
of Sec. 300.320 through 300.324.

34 C.F.R. §300.34(a) provides:
Related services means transportation [emphasis added] and such developmental,
corrective, and other supportive services as are required to assist a child with a disability

13 In addition, the compensatory education plan presented does not specifically state what portions of the
proposal are related to a delay from the settlement agreement until November 29, 2010. The hours of
tutoring and mentoring proposed are lumped together.






to benefit from special education, and includes speech-language pathology and audiology
services, interpreting services, psychological services, physical and occupational therapy,
recreation, including therapeutic recreation, early identification and assessment of
disabilities in children, counseling services, including rehabilitation counseling,
orientation and mobility services, and medical services for diagnostic or evaluation
purposes. Related services also include school health services and school nurse services,
social work services in schools, and parent counseling and training.

The parent testified that from the time the student began attending School A, November 29,
2010, until he was provided fare cards by School A the parent incurred the cost of the student’s
transportation. The parent also stated that the student missed some school days because she did
not have money to provide the student to travel on Metro to school. However, the parent did not
testify how many days, or on what days this was the case. The parent also testified the student
often did not attend school because of other reasons including of illness and a lack of motivation.

credibly testified the student was provided fare cards in early January 2011 that
exceeded the amount that was required for his transportation to and from school until January 25,
2011, when the student began being provided bus transportation. The student then returned to
Metro fare cards on April 5,2011. He was provided a total fare card dollar amount that
exceeded what he needed to travel to and from school on the days he actually attended.
Although the parent testified that the student missed some school days because she had no fare
money to give him, these days were not clearly defined by the parent in her testimony. The
Hearing Officer concludes the Petitioner did not sufficiently demonstrate the student missed
school due to not being provided transportation services and the student is thus due no
compensatory education in this regard.

However, also testified that the student was not provided fare cards until early January
2011. This means from the time the student began attending School A on November 29, 2011,
until the time he was first provided a fare card in January 2011, the parent provided the student
either Metro fare or drove him to school. The November settlement agreement clearly states
DCPS is to provide the student transportation services. Transportation is apparently a necessary
component to enable the student to attend school and was term of the settlement agreement. The
fact that the student was not provided transportation services from November 29, 2010, to early
January 2011 caused the child a deprivation of educational benefits he was due to be provided
and the parent is entitled to reimbursement for the costs incurred. The evidence presented
demonstrates the parent incurred a total cost of in providing the student transportation
services between November 29, 2010, and January 15, 2011, and the Hearing Officer orders
below that DCPS reimburse the parent for these costs.






ORDER:

1. DCPS shall, within 30 calendar days of the issuance of this order, reimburse the parent
for the transportation services she provided the student to attend School A from
November 29, 2010, through January 15, 2011.

2. All other relief requested by the Petitioner is hereby denied and all other issues in the
complaint are hereby dismissed with prejudice

APPEAL PROCESS:

The decision issued by the Hearing Officer is final, except that any party aggrieved by the
findings and decision of the Hearing Officer shall have 90 days from the date of the decision of
the Hearing Officer to file a civil action with respect to the issues presented at the due process
hearing in a District Court of the United States or a District of Columbia court of competent
jurisdiction, as provided in 20 U.S.C. §1415(1)(2).

6)7 Q:JS@‘% '_

Coles B. Ruff, Esq.
Hearing Officer
Date: June 29, 2011
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